UNIVERSITY OF EDUCATION, WINNEBA

EARLY-GRADE TEACHERS' PEDAGOGICAL KNOWLEDGE IN THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE STANDARD-BASED CURRICULUM IN ATWIMA-KWAWOMA DISTRICT



MASTER OF EDUCATION

UNIVERSITY OF EDUCATION, WINNEBA

EARLY-GRADE TEACHERS' PEDAGOGICAL KNOWLEDGE IN THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE STANDARD-BASED CURRICULUM IN ATWIMA-KWAWOMA DISTRICT



A dissertation in the Department of Early Childhood, Faculty of School Education and Lifelong Learning, Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies, in partial fulfillment

Of the requirements for the award of the degree of
Master of Education
(Early Childhood)
In the University of Education, Winneba

DECLARATION

Student's Declaration

I, **Evelyn Kwarteng**, declare that this thesis, with the exception of quotation and references contained in published works which have all been identified and duly acknowledged, is entirely my original work, and it has not been submitted either in part or whole for another degree elsewhere.

Signature:	
Date:	

Supervisors Declaration

I hereby declare that the preparation and presentation of this work was supervised in accordance with the guidelines for supervision of thesis as laid down by the University of Education, Winneba.

DEDICATION

I dedicate this work to my husband Paul Attakorah and my children Kwadwo Kyere Attakorah and Kofi Agyei Attakorah.

.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I express my sincere gratitude to God Almighty for seeing me through my master's programme. My sincerest appreciation goes to my supervisor Dr. Otami for her time, patience, and intellectual guidance that she imparted into me throughout the development of this research work. I also thank all Lecturers at the Department of Early Childhood for their immense contributions. Many thanks to all who helped in one way or the other, I am most grateful.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
III
IV
V
VI
IX
X
1
1
5
10
10
10
11
12
13
14
14
16
16
16
17
19
21

University of Education, Winneba http://ir.uew.edu.gh

2.1.4 Bottom-Up Theory	22
2.2 Conceptual Review	23
2.2.1 Early Childhood Standard-Based Curriculum	23
2.2.2 Implementation of the Standard-Based Curriculum	25
2.3 Early-Grade Teachers' Understanding of Standard-Based Curriculum.	37
2.4 Pedagogical Approaches Early Childhood Teachers Adopt to Teach Learners	at
Early Childhood Centres.	42
2.5 Available Resources that Support Teachers in The Successful Implementation	of the
Standard-Based Curriculum.	51
2.6 Challenges that Mitigate Against Early Grade Teachers Implementation of	the
Standard-Based Curriculum.	53
2.7 Conceptual Framework	61
CHAPTER THREE: METHODOLOGY	66
3.0 Overview	66
3.1 Philosophical Underpinning	66
3.2 Research Approach	67
3.3 Research Design	67
3.4 Population	68
3.5 Sample and Sampling Technique	69
3.6 Data Collection Instrument	69
3.6.1 Structured Questionnaire	69
3.6.2 Validity of the Questionnaire	71
3.6.3 Reliability of the Questionnaire	71
3.7 Data collection Procedure	72
3.8 Data Presentation and Analysis	72

3.9 Ethical Consideration	72
CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS	74
4.0 Overview	74
4.1 Background Information of Respondents	74
4.2 What are early-grade teachers' Pedagogical Knowledge of the implementation	
of the standard-based curriculum in the Atwima-Kwawoma District?	77
4.3 What pedagogical approaches do early-grade teachers adopt to teach learners	
at early childhood centres in the Atwima-Kwawoma District?	81
4.4 What resources are available to support early-grade teachers in the successful	
implementation of the standard-based curriculum in the Atwima-Kwawoma Distri	ct?84
4.5 Challenges early-grade teachers face in implementing the standard-based	
curriculum in the Atwima-Kwawoma District.	88
CHAPTER FIVE: SUMMARY OF FINDINGS, CONCLUSION AND	
RECOMMENDATIONS	94
5.1 Overview	94
5.2 Summary	94
5.3 Summary of Major Findings	95
5.4 Conclusions	98
5.5 Policy recommendations	99
5.6 Suggestions for Further Study	101
REFERENCES	102
APPENDIX: QUESTIONNAIRE FOR TEACHERS	120

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
4.1	Background Information of Respondents	74
4.2:	Early-grade teachers' perceptions of the implementation of the	
	standard-based curriculum	78
4.3:	Pedagogical approaches early-grade teachers adopt to teach	81
4.4:	Available to support early-grade teachers in the successful implementation	ı
	of the standard-based curriculum	85
4.5:	Available to support early-grade teachers in the successful implementation	1
	of the standard-based curriculum	89

ABSTRACT

The study aimed at examining early-grade teachers' pedagogical knowledge in the implementation of the standard-based curriculum in Atwima-Kwawoma district. The study seeks to identify pedagogical approaches early-grade teachers adopt to teach learners at early childhood centres using standard-based curriculum in the Atwima-Kwawoma District. The main research question guiding the study is the identify pedagogical approaches and skills early-grade teachers in the Atwima-Kwawoma District employ in teaching at early childhood centers using the standard-based curriculum? The study was guided by 4 major theories namely; constructivist learning theory, diffusion of innovations theory, top-down theory, and bottom-up theory. The study adopted positivist philosophical stand. Quantitative research approach and descriptive survey research design were adopted. The target population for the study were teachers in early-grade schools in the Atwima-Kwawoma District. Simple random sampling technique was used to select the 132 early-grade teachers. This was done using the rand function in Microsoft excel. The study used questionnaire as the main instrument for collecting data on the respondents. The study used descriptive Statistics, such as frequency tables, mean and standard deviations to analyze the obtained data from sampled respondents. The study found that a significant percentage of teachers expressed challenges in understanding the standard-base curriculum. There is variability in teachers' ability to explain the standard-base curriculum. The study found that play-based pedagogy is widely adopted by teachers in the district. Also, it was revealed that inquiry-based learning approach is also prevalent. Project-based learning and technology-based learning approaches exhibit more diverse adoption patterns. Again, theme-based and activity-based learning approaches are widely embraced by teachers. The study also revealed that differentiated instruction is less commonly adopted, with a majority of teachers remaining neutral about its use. In line with the third objective, the study found that while the majority of teachers have access to an official standard-based curriculum, a significant proportion does not. It was also revealed that a concerning number of teachers reported not having books for all their learners, indicating a serious lack of essential learning materials. In line with the fourth objective of the study, the results reveal several significant challenges that early-grade teachers in the Atwima-Kwawoma District face when implementing the Standard-Based Curriculum. These challenges include a lack of understanding of the curriculum, inadequate teaching materials, large class sizes, insufficient training, heavy workloads, student comprehension issues, limited parental involvement, and inadequacy of school facilities. The study recommends that the school authorities and Ministry of Education should increase funding for early-grade education to address resource constraints, particularly the availability of textbooks and teaching materials.

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background to the Study

Education is the cornerstone of societal development, playing a pivotal role in shaping the future of individuals and communities (Rokicki et al., 2020; Schweinhart & Weikart, 2016; (Jacinta, & Rotich, 2015). In recent years, the global landscape of education has witnessed a paradigm shift with an increasing emphasis on standard-based curricula aimed at enhancing learning outcomes and ensuring educational equity. The implementation of standard-based curricula requires teachers to possess a profound understanding of pedagogical practices that align with the prescribed standards, particularly in the crucial early grades where foundational skills are laid (Badu, Agbevivi & Subbey, 2022).

Countries are increasingly poised to produce learners with knowledge that will put them at a competitive advantage over others in the job market. All over the world, educational systems have resorted to curricular changes to realize these educational aims. Countries such as Ghana, the United States of America, Kenya, Rwanda and others have all undertaken to reform their educational system to ensure the production of highly sophisticated individuals who possess the knowledge and skills necessary for the job market in the 21st Century (Waweru, 2018). It is to this end that the Ministry of Education through the National Council for Curriculum and Assessment (NaCCA) introduced the Standard-based Curriculum to replace the objective-based curriculum since the introduction of formal education. This reform did not exclude the early childhood curriculum.

The changes have led to new requirements for pedagogy and for sure enhance the need for the professional competence of teachers. Much often, early-grade teachers are underestimated compared to other teachers who teach at a formal level of education, although their role is just as important as other teachers in teaching and enhancing learner ability. This presumption is mostly based on the learning activity in early childhood which contains a lot of art and playing activity such as dancing to the rhythm, singing, clapping hands, and playing games based on theme or subject that makes learning activity seems unformal and playful (Moloney, 2010).

Early-grade teachers as key players in young children's education have a crucial role to play in early childhood curriculum implementation. The role of the Early-grade teachers is to make this curriculum work for the intended purpose to inculcate in learners the core competencies and values and to make learning happen; improve learning outcomes (NaCCA, 2019). Conferring to the National Council for Curriculum and Assessment [NaCCA] (2019), the Standard-Based Curriculum (SBC) stipulates that Early-grade teachers employ participatory, play-based and childcentered activities in the classroom to enable learners to reflect on their experiences, collaborate and interact with other peers and the teachers themselves. again, Earlygrade teachers are to engage actively and connect what they are learning to their lives daily. Learning must be made functional, with the use of real-life experiences to help the child apply lessons learned to their daily lives. These pedagogical approaches are earmarked towards the attainment of six essential core competencies (Communication and collaboration; critical thinking and problem-solving; creativity and innovation; cultural identity and global citizenship; leadership and personal development and digital literacy) (NaCCA, 2019).

The standard-based curriculum in Ghana, as outlined by the GES, aims to cultivate critical thinking, problem-solving skills, and holistic development among students. However, the success of this ambitious agenda hinges on the effective translation of curriculum objectives into the pedagogical practices of early-grade teachers. Research by Alhassan and Abosi (2017) underscores the challenges faced by teachers in Ghana in adapting to the new curriculum, highlighting the need for targeted professional development initiatives.

In the context of Atwima-Kwawoma District, the challenges and opportunities in implementing the standard-based curriculum are further nuanced by the district's unique characteristics. These include the socio-economic diversity of learners, limited access to educational resources, and variations in teacher training and professional development opportunities. A study by Akyeampong, Pryor, and Westbrook (2018) underscores the importance of addressing these contextual factors in understanding the dynamics of education in Ghana. Crucially, the discourse on effective pedagogy remains central to educational research. Hattie's (2012) meta-analysis emphasizes the substantial impact of teacher effectiveness on student achievement. In this light, the focus on the pedagogical knowledge and practices of early-grade teachers in Atwima-Kwawoma District becomes imperative. Understanding how teachers navigate and apply pedagogical principles in the context of the standard-based curriculum is crucial for optimizing learning outcomes.

Pedagogical knowledge refers to teachers' ability to make a connection between theories and practice in the teaching and learning process (Figueiredo, Gomes & Rodrigues, 2018; Nganga, 2020; Buyong, Mohamed, Satari, et al., 2020). In the early-grade, it includes the provision of learning environments for play, exploration, and instructive learning (Siraj-Blatchford, Sylva, et al., 2002). In this study, it refers to the

interactive process between the early-grade teacher and learners and the learning environment provided by the teacher in order to enhance children's stimulation and learning.

Teachers with good pedagogical knowledge can carry out effective teaching and learning session in the classroom (Clements & Sarama, 2008; Oakley, 2020). They know how to integrate the pedagogy, content, and implementation strategies that will help children to gain a better understanding (Koehler, Mishra, Akcaoglu, & Rosenberg, 2013). They can also make the learning session fun and exciting. This approach has been proven to enhance children's engagement, attention, focus, and interest (Dewyer & Schachter, 2019; Nganga, 2020; Male & Resad, 2016). Besides, the fun and exciting session with playful activities can help nurture and foster the interest of children towards learning (Oakley, 2020).

The importance of displaying pedagogical knowledge and skills cannot be overemphasised. According to Amosun and Kolawole (2015), pedagogical knowledge helps teachers to think about the best possible methods, strategies, materials, and resources to be utilised for the learning situation; helps teachers to know how to utilise various forms of play; different strategies for grouping learners; different types of media and materials. Pedagogical knowledge and skills turn teachers into facilitators, coaches, models, evaluators, managers, and advocates (Amosun & Kolawole, 2015). It helps teachers employ appropriate evaluation schemes. Effective pedagogy helps teachers display skills in creating curricula designed to build on learners' present knowledge and understanding and move those learners to more sophisticated and in-depth abilities, knowledge, concepts, and performances. Thus, effective teaching requires pedagogical skills so that the teaching is carried out smoothly and results in the maximum output in terms of the expected teaching outcomes. However, Kpedator (2019) reported that teachers did receive enough training on curriculum implementation hence they have inadequate knowledge of the pedagogies for delivering the content of the curriculum. The most scathing criticism of the teachers related to the lack of learning materials to support the implementation of the curriculum as well as a limited congenial atmosphere that would enhance the successful implementation of the curriculum Kpedator (2019).

In light of the aforementioned considerations, this research in the Atwima-Kwawoma District becomes particularly relevant. The district's unique characteristics provide an opportunity to examine how local dynamics intersect with the broader educational landscape, influencing the pedagogical knowledge and practices of early-grade teachers. This study, therefore, aims at investigating Early-grade teachers' pedagogical knowledge in the implementation of the standard-based curriculum in the Atwima-Kwawoma District. By drawing on these global, national, and local contexts, this study aims to offer nuanced insights into the challenges and opportunities faced by early-grade teachers in implementing the standard-based curriculum in Atwima-Kwawoma District.

1.2 Statement of the Problem

To appropriately prepare teachers for the implementation of the Standard-Based Curriculum, the Ghana Education Service (GES) organised a five-day training program for primary school teachers across the country. Despite the fact that the workshops were largely effective, Kpedator (2019) claims that a number of bad situations marked the Ministry's failure to listen to the teachers' numerous concerns throughout the training. The most vehement complaint levelled were inadequate resources and inadequacy of time to understand the curriculum (Kpedator, 2019).

Now the question is, do early grade teachers in the district faces these challenges in the implementation of the Standard-Based Curriculum? In this light, the study seeks to examine the pedagogical knowledge and skills early grade teachers employ for successful implementation of the Standard-Based Curriculum and also examine the challenges early grade teachers in the district face in implementing the Standard-Based Curriculum. Therefore, teachers must think creatively, innovatively, strategically, and unrestrictedly and acquire the necessary knowledge in order to implement the reforms, through effective and quality teaching and learning.

In the context of Atwima-Kwawoma District, the effective implementation of the standard-based curriculum faces significant challenges, particularly in relation to the pedagogical knowledge of early-grade teachers. The seamless integration of the standard-based curriculum into classroom practices requires a deep understanding and adept application of pedagogical principles by teachers. However, based on my observation as early grade teacher and coordinator in the district, the early-grade teachers in Atwima-Kwawoma District encounter obstacles that hinder the optimal execution of the standard-based curriculum, impeding its potential to foster holistic student development. Observations made by the researcher suggest that early-grade learners in the Atwima Kwawoma District are not adequately prepared to develop the skills and core competencies which include critical thinking and problem-solving, creativity and innovation, communication and collaboration, cultural identity and global citizenship, personal development and leadership, and digital literacy outlined in the new standard-based curriculum. It seems these children are deficient in solving problems that require more than simple recall of facts or performance of rudimentary skills. It appears early-grade teachers are unable to provide opportunities for children to engage in activities that promote in-depth understanding, ethical thinking, creative

problem solving, and the ability to use knowledge in real-life settings as a result of the limited knowledge they may have on the new standard-based curriculum. One of the central issues revolves around the adequacy of early-grade teachers' pedagogical knowledge to align with the requirements of the standard-based curriculum. There is a growing concern that teachers may lack the necessary training, resources, or support to effectively translate the curriculum objectives into engaging and student-focused instructional strategies. The question of whether early-grade teachers at Atwima-Kwawoma District possess the requisite pedagogical tools to cater to the diverse needs of learners within the framework of the standard-based curriculum emerges as a critical challenge.

Furthermore, the problem extends to the practical implementation of pedagogical approaches in the classroom setting. Challenges such as limited access to teaching aids, variations in the socio-economic backgrounds of students, and disparities in professional development opportunities may hinder the seamless integration of pedagogical strategies tailored to the standard-based curriculum (Mochiah & Adibi, 2023). This discrepancy may lead to a misalignment between curriculum goals and instructional practices, potentially compromising the quality of education provided to early-grade learners (Sampson, Kumi & Maxwell, 2022). Additionally, the evaluation of student learning outcomes within the context of the standard-based curriculum raises concerns about the effectiveness of current pedagogical approaches employed by early-grade teachers (Mahama, 2023). The identification of gaps between intended curriculum outcomes and the actual achievements of students becomes crucial for understanding the impact of pedagogical practices on the successful implementation of the standard-based curriculum.

Thus, the overarching problem can be encapsulated in the following question: To what extent do challenges in early-grade teachers' pedagogical knowledge impede the successful implementation of the standard-based curriculum in Atwima-Kwawoma District, and how do these challenges manifest in classroom practices and student learning outcomes? Addressing this problem is imperative for enhancing the efficacy of educational interventions, professional development initiatives, and policy frameworks aimed at bolstering the implementation of the standard-based curriculum in early-grade classrooms within the district.

While the issue of early-grade teachers' pedagogical knowledge in the implementation of the standard-based curriculum has garnered attention in existing literature, a critical examination reveals notable gaps and deficiencies. Previous studies have explored various facets of this complex interplay, shedding light on the challenges and opportunities faced by educators in different contexts. However, several key aspects remain underexplored or insufficiently addressed, creating a research gap that this current study seeks to bridge.

Existing literature has predominantly focused on the global and national perspectives, providing insights into overarching challenges faced by teachers in implementing standard-based curricula. Studies such as those by Knaack, Kreuz & Zawlocki (2012) and Akyeampong, Westbroo and Pryor (2020) have contributed valuable insights at the national level, offering a broad understanding of the issues. However, a gap exists in the specific examination of these challenges within the unique socio-cultural and infrastructural context of Atwima-Kwawoma District. The existing literature has not adequately addressed how the district's distinctive characteristics may amplify or mitigate the challenges faced by early-grade teachers in translating pedagogical knowledge into effective curriculum implementation (Aboagye & Yawson, 2020).

Moreover, while some studies (Nevenglosky, 2018; Pandey, 2018) have touched upon the barriers to effective curriculum implementation, few (Mahamud, 2021; Wambi, Buluma & Ludigo,2023) have delved into the nuances of the pedagogical knowledge possessed by early-grade teachers. The literature deficiencies a comprehensive exploration of the specific pedagogical strategies and approaches that teachers employ in aligning with the standard-based curriculum. Understanding the intricacies of teachers' pedagogical knowledge and practices is vital for tailoring interventions that address specific needs and challenges at the grassroots level. Additionally, the majority of existing studies have tended to emphasize challenges rather than focusing on the potential solutions or effective strategies that early-grade teachers may employ to overcome obstacles in implementing the standard-based curriculum. This leaves a gap in the practical guidance available to educators and policymakers seeking evidence-based approaches to enhance curriculum implementation.

The current study aims to fill these gaps by providing a localized examination of early-grade teachers' pedagogical knowledge within the Atwima-Kwawoma District. By doing so, it seeks to offer a nuanced understanding of the challenges unique to this context, identify specific gaps in pedagogical practices, and propose actionable recommendations for improving the alignment between teachers' pedagogical knowledge and the requirements of the standard-based curriculum. In essence, this study endeavors to contribute a missing piece to the existing literature, addressing the need for context-specific insights that can inform targeted interventions and strategies for enhancing the quality of early-grade education in Atwima-Kwawoma District.

1.3 Purpose of the Study

The study examined early-grade teachers' pedagogical knowledge in the implementation of the standard-based curriculum in Atwima-Kwawoma district.

1.4 Research Objectives

The study sought to:

- 1. Examine the early-grade teachers' understanding of standard-base curriculum in the Atwima-Kwawoma District.
- Identify pedagogical approaches early-grade teachers adopt to teach learners at early childhood centres using standard-base curriculum in the Atwima-Kwawoma District.
- 3. Assess available resources that support early-grade teachers in the successful implementation of the standard-base curriculum in the Atwima-Kwawoma District.
- 4. Identify challenges early-grade teachers face in implementing the standard-base curriculum and how they address them in the Atwima-Kwawoma District.

1.5 Research Questions

The following research questions will be formulated to guide the study:

- 1. in what ways do early grade teachers in Atwima-Kwawoma District understand standard-base curriculum and its implementation strategies?
- 2. What pedagogical approaches do early-grade teachers in the Atwima-Kwawoma District employ when teaching learners at early childhood centers using the standard-base curriculum?

- 3. What is the assessment of the availability and adequacy of resources that support early-grade teachers in the Atwima-Kwawoma District in the successful implementation of the standard-base curriculum?
- 4. What challenges do early-grade teachers face in the Atwima-Kwawoma District when implementing the standard-base curriculum, and how do they address these challenges?

1.6 Significance of the Study

The study contributes to the theoretical understanding of pedagogy in early-grade education. By investigating the relationship between early-grade teachers' pedagogical knowledge and the implementation of the standard-based curriculum, the study enriches existing pedagogical theories. It provides insights into how theoretical frameworks can be applied in real-world educational settings, enhancing our understanding of effective teaching practices.

The practical significance of this study lies in its potential to inform and improve teaching practices. Findings from the study can offer practical insights into how early-grade teachers can better align their pedagogical approaches with the standard-based curriculum. This has direct implications for classroom instruction, potentially leading to more engaging, effective, and student-centered teaching practices.

The study holds significant implications for educational policies, particularly those related to curriculum development and teacher training. Insights into the challenges faced by early-grade teachers and the factors influencing the successful implementation of the standard-based curriculum can inform policy decisions. Policymakers can use this information to refine curriculum guidelines, design targeted professional development programs, and allocate resources effectively. Again, the

findings of the study will be resourceful to major stakeholders (GES, MOE, NaCCA, Schools) in identifying what bottlenecks exist regarding early-grade teachers' pedagogical knowledge in curriculum implementation and in turn, provide remedies for bettering the situation.

The study contributes to evidence-based decision-making in educational policy. Policymakers can use the research findings to make informed choices about curriculum design, resource allocation, and support systems for teachers. This aligns with the broader goal of enhancing the quality of education and ensuring that policies are grounded in empirical evidence. Understanding the challenges faced by early-grade teachers in implementing the standard-based curriculum allows policymakers to proactively address these challenges. Policy interventions can be designed to provide targeted support, resources, and professional development opportunities, fostering a more conducive environment for successful curriculum implementation.

1.7 Delimitations of the Study

The delimitations and scope of the study define the specific boundaries within which the research will be conducted. They help to clarify the extent, limitations, and contextual focus of the investigation. This study is confined to the Atwima-Kwawoma District in the Ashanti Region of Ghana, ensuring a localized focus on a specific educational setting. The study specifically targets early-grade teachers involved in the implementation of the standard-based curriculum. The focus is on teachers working with learners at the early childhood education level within the Atwima-Kwawoma District.

The study primarily examines the standard-based curriculum introduced in 2020 by the National Council for Curriculum and Assessment (NaCCA) in Ghana. It does not encompass other curriculum models or historical curriculum structures that may have been in place prior to this recent reform. While the study explores pedagogical approaches, it does not comprehensively cover all possible teaching methodologies. The focus is on the specific strategies employed by early-grade teachers in the context of implementing the standard-based curriculum. The study primarily relies on the perspectives and experiences of early-grade teachers. While valuable, it does not extensively capture the viewpoints of other stakeholders such as students, parents, or school administrators.

By clearly delineating these delimitations and specifying the scope, the study maintains a focused and manageable framework. These boundaries enable the research to address its objectives effectively while acknowledging the constraints inherent in any empirical investigation.

1.8 Limitations of the Study

One major limitation of the study has to do with the difficulty in the data collection process. Due to the busy schedule on the part of the early childhood teachers, and not interrupting class hours, the researcher if difficulty in getting the teachers to respond to the questionnaire at a goal. This makes the data collection process prolonged. Also,

The study employed a cross-sectional design, which captures data at a single point in time. Longitudinal or repeated measures designs could provide insights into changes or trends in teachers' perceptions and experiences over time. The study focused specifically on the Atwima-Kwawoma District in Ghana. The findings may not be easily generalizable to other districts or regions within Ghana or to other countries with different educational contexts, policies, and challenges. Due to resource

limitations, the study did not involve external observations or in-depth analysis of documents and records, which could have enriched the data and provided a more holistic view of the context. Despite these limitations, this may not have any significant consequences on the research findings. To build on the findings of this study and address its limitations, the following suggestions for further research could be considered.

1.9 Operational Definition of Terms

Early-grade Teachers: In the context of this study, they are teachers who teach at the kindergarten level in Ghana

Pedagogical Knowledge: It is the specialised knowledge of early-grade teachers for creating effective teaching and learning environments for all learners

Standard-Based Curriculum: It is the new curriculum for Ghana's kindergarten schools, dubbed – curriculum for change and sustainable development

1.10 Organisation of the Study

The study is divided into five chapters. Chapter one dealt with the general introduction of the study, background to the study, the statement of the problem, purpose of the study, objectives of the study, and research questions, significance of the study, delimitations of the study, operational definition of terms, organisation of the Study. Chapter two will present on review of related literature. It will provide theoretical and empirical evidence on pedagogical knowledge of early-grade teachers. Chapter three will present the research methodology. It will describe the research design, population, sample and sampling technique, research instruments, pilottesting, validity, reliability of the data collection instrument, data collection procedures, data analysis, and ethical consideration. Chapter four will focus on results

University of Education, Winneba http://ir.uew.edu.gh

presentation and discussion of the data that was collected from the field. Lastly, chapter five of the study will present the summary of the research findings, conclusions based on the findings, recommendations, and make suggestions for further research.



CHAPTER TWO

REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE

2.0 Overview

This chapter reviews related literature as follows: Theoretical framework, conceptual framework and strand of the research questions.

Theoretical Framework

Constructivist Learning Theory (Jean Piaget and Lev Vygotsky, Jean Piaget 1896-1980) The Diffusion of Innovations Theory (Everett Rogers 1962)

The top-down theory (Richard Gregory in 1970)

The Bottom-Up Theory (James J. Gibson in 1966)

Early-grade teachers' knowledge of standard-based curriculum

Pedagogical approaches early-grade teachers adopt to teach learners using standard-based.

Available resources that support early-grade teachers in the successful implementation of the standard-based curriculum in the Atwima-Kwawoma District.

Challenges early-grade teachers face in implementing the standard-based curriculum and how they address them in the Atwima-Kwawoma District.

Conceptual Framework

2.1 Theoretical framework

The study was guided by constructivist learning theory, diffusion of innovations theory, top-down theory, and bottom-up theory.

2.1.1 Constructivist Learning Theory

The Constructivist Learning Theory, rooted in the works of theorists such as Jean Piaget and Lev Vygotsky, Jean Piaget (1896-1980) is considered the father of the constructivist view of learning (Waite-Stupiansky, 2022). The theory posits that learners actively construct knowledge through their experiences, interactions, and reflections on the world around them (Bada & Olusegun, 2015). In the context of education, particularly early-grade teaching, this theory holds that learning is most effective when students are engaged in activities that allow them to explore, question, and make connections based on their existing understanding (Suhendi, 2018).

This study aligns with the constructivist learning theory, which posit that learners actively construct knowledge through their experiences. And the standard based curriculum employed the play-based learning which exposes learners to variety of experiences. Teachers understanding of the constructivist learning theory will inform teachers with regards to the pedagogical skills and approaches to adopt to enhance learners' active participation and successful implementation of the standard-based curriculum.

The theory posits that learners actively construct knowledge through their experiences, interactions, and reflections on the world around them (Bada & Olusegun, 2015). In the context of education, particularly early-grade teaching, this theory holds that learning is most effective when students are engaged in activities that allow them to explore, question, and make connections based on their existing understanding (Suhendi, 2018).

The theory emphasizes the importance of active involvement in the learning process. Rather than passively receiving information, learners, in this case, early-grade teachers, are encouraged to actively engage with the content, formulate hypotheses, and explore different teaching strategies (Chuang, 2021). Constructivism recognizes the significance of social interactions in learning. Collaborative activities, discussions, and shared experiences play a vital role in shaping an individual's understanding of a subject (Alzahrani & Woollard, 2013). In the context of the current study, exploring how early-grade teachers interact with their peers, share pedagogical practices, and collaborate on curriculum implementation aligns with the social nature of constructivist learning. Vygotsky's concept of scaffolding highlights the importance of providing support to learners based on their current level of understanding. For early-grade teachers, Atwima-Kwawoma District this may involve tailored professional development, mentorship, or collaborative planning sessions that gradually guide them toward effective implementation of the standard-based curriculum.

In the Atwima-Kwawoma District, understanding how early-grade teachers engage with the standard-based curriculum through a constructivist lens is crucial. The study can explore: How do early-grade teachers actively involve themselves in the curriculum, encouraging students to explore and discover knowledge rather than relying solely on traditional didactic methods? To what extent do teachers in the district engage in collaborative activities, sharing their experiences and learning from one another? How does this collaborative process contribute to the collective pedagogical knowledge of early-grade teachers? How can professional development initiatives be designed to align with the principles of constructivist learning? Are there opportunities for teachers to actively participate in their own learning process, reflecting on and refining their teaching practices? To what extent do early-grade teachers employ student-centered pedagogical approaches that align with the

principles of constructivism, allowing students to take an active role in their learning process?

By exploring these aspects within the framework of the Constructivist Learning Theory, the study would provide nuanced insights into how early-grade teachers in Atwima-Kwawoma District construct and apply their pedagogical knowledge in the implementation of the standard-based curriculum.

2.1.2 Diffusion of Innovations Theory

The Diffusion of Innovations Theory, developed by Everett Rogers in 1962, provides a framework for understanding how new ideas, practices, or innovations are adopted and spread within a social system (Dearing & Cox, 2018). The theory identifies five main groups of adopters: innovators, early adopters, early majority, late majority, and laggards. It describes the process of adoption as a journey through these stages by different segments of the population (Ma, Lee & Goh, 2014). The theory has been applied in various fields such as education, marketing, public health, agriculture, social work, communication, and criminal justice. It is used to understand how and why new ideas and technologies spread, and it helps in predicting the rate at which consumers will adopt a new product or service (Lovejoy, Demireva, Grayson & McNamara, 2009). In the context of education, particularly the implementation of the standard-based curriculum, this theory offers valuable insights into the process by which innovations are embraced by individuals, such as early-grade teachers, within a specific setting.

In the current study, the innovation is represented by the standard-based curriculum.

This is considered a new and potentially improved way of delivering education, emphasizing uniform standards, learner-centered learning, and skills development.

Rogers categorizes individuals into adopter categories based on their readiness to embrace an innovation. The categories include innovators, early adopters, early majority, late majority, and laggards. Early-grade teachers in the Atwima-Kwawoma District may fall into different categories based on their willingness and speed of adoption of the standard-based curriculum.

The diffusion theory emphasizes the importance of communication channels in the diffusion process. These channels can be interpersonal (peer discussions, collaboration) or mass media (training programs, official guidelines). Understanding how information about the standard-based curriculum is communicated among early-grade teachers is crucial. The social system represents the broader context in which the innovation is introduced (Moulaert, MacCallum, Mehmood & Hamdouch, 2013). This includes the organizational structure, cultural norms, and existing practices within the Atwima-Kwawoma District's educational environment.

In relation to the current study, the study would explore the different adopter categories among early-grade teachers in the Atwima-Kwawoma District. Are there innovators who eagerly embrace the standard-based curriculum, or is there resistance among certain groups? Understanding these patterns can provide insights into the factors influencing the adoption process. How is information about the standard-based curriculum disseminated among early-grade teachers? Are there effective communication channels, such as professional development sessions, workshops, or collaborative platforms, that facilitate the exchange of information and ideas? How does the existing organizational culture within schools and the broader educational system influence the adoption of the standard-based curriculum? Are there institutional factors that act as barriers or facilitators to the diffusion process? Exploring the innovativeness of individual teachers can help identify those who are

more open to experimenting with new teaching methods aligned with the standard-based curriculum. This can inform targeted interventions for professional development.

By applying the Diffusion of Innovations Theory to the study, researchers would gain a comprehensive understanding of how the standard-based curriculum is accepted and integrated into the educational practices of early-grade teachers in the Atwima-Kwawoma District. This framework offers a lens to explore the dynamics of innovation adoption, providing valuable insights for educational policymakers and practitioners.

2.1.3 Top-Down Theory

The top-down theory was propounded by British psychologist Richard Gregory in 1970. The Top-Down Theory of curriculum implementation posits that educational policies, such as the standard-based curriculum, are formulated and mandated from higher authorities down to the classroom level (Sadras, 2005). In this framework, pedagogical strategies and instructional methods associated with the curriculum are prescribed at a broader policy level, shaping the teaching practices of early-grade teachers. The implementation process is expected to adhere to predetermined standards and guidelines, emphasizing a structured and uniform approach to pedagogy (Craddock, O'Halloran, Mcpherson, Hean & Hammick, 2013).

Examining the Top-Down approach within the Atwima-Kwawoma District involves investigating how the prescribed pedagogical elements of the standard-based curriculum are communicated and expected to be applied by early-grade teachers. The study explores how well teachers align their classroom practices with the prescribed pedagogical strategies outlined in the curriculum guidelines. Understanding the

interplay between top-down directives and the actual pedagogical approaches employed in the district provides insights into the effectiveness and challenges associated with the standard-based curriculum.

2.1.4 Bottom-Up Theory

The Bottom-Up Theory was introduced by James J. Gibson in 1966. The Bottom-Up Theory highlights the active role of early-grade teachers in shaping curriculum implementation, emphasizing their pedagogical expertise and insights (Setiawan, 2020). In this approach, teachers are seen as pivotal decision-makers who contribute to the design and adaptation of the curriculum based on their understanding of effective pedagogy (Bolghari & Hajimaghsoodi, 2017). The Bottom-Up perspective recognizes that successful implementation requires teachers to actively engage in pedagogical decision-making, adapting instructional strategies to the unique needs and context of their students. Investigating the Bottom-Up approach within the Atwima-Kwawoma District involves exploring how early-grade teachers leverage their pedagogical knowledge to interpret and adapt the standard-based curriculum. The study delves into the pedagogical strategies teachers employ, the instructional methods they find effective, and how they address challenges within the context of their classrooms. Understanding how teachers contribute curriculum implementation through their pedagogical lens provides valuable insights into the dynamic and context-specific nature of education in the district.

By considering both the Top-Down and Bottom-Up theories, the study gains a comprehensive understanding of the dynamics of curriculum implementation in the Atwima-Kwawoma District. This dual perspective allows researchers to explore how policy decisions interact with the practical experiences, pedagogical decisions and

adaptations made by early-grade teachers, providing a nuanced view of the challenges and successes in implementing the standard-based curriculum.

2.2 Conceptual Review

The Conceptual review section serves as the conceptual underpinning that guides the exploration of early-grade teachers' pedagogical knowledge in the implementation of the standard-based curriculum in the Atwima-Kwawoma District. This framework provides a structured lens through which the study examines the interplay between theoretical constructs and the practical realities of curriculum implementation. By delineating key concepts, relationships, and variables, the Conceptual Framework illuminates the intricate dynamics that shape the pedagogical landscape in the context of the standard-based curriculum.

2.2.1 Early Childhood Standard-Based Curriculum

Bulger, Housner & Lee (2008) assert that developing a standards-based curriculum necessitates a close examination of the standards, considering the skills, knowledge, and dispositions that learners should demonstrate. This process involves not only selecting a curriculum model but also incorporating pedagogical strategies that align with the developmental stages of early childhood. Carr and Harris (2001) emphasize that the curriculum design should commence with a thorough understanding of the standards, and when unpacked, the pedagogical activities that facilitate reaching these standards should naturally emerge.

Ani-Boi (2009) accentuates the importance of curricular assessments within a standards-based curriculum, enabling learners to track their success and aiding teachers in evaluating the effectiveness of pedagogical methods. Understanding the reasons for learners falling short of standards requires a pedagogical lens, as it

prompts educators to consider alternative approaches to teaching and the inclusion of different activities in the program (Tafai, 2017).

However, challenges arise when some teachers object to a standards-based curriculum due to perceived infringements on their autonomy to choose what learners should learn (Petersen, Cruz, & Amundson, 2002). To address this, it becomes crucial to incorporate pedagogical principles that emphasize flexibility and adaptability. The pedagogical knowledge of teachers should be acknowledged and leveraged to strike a balance between adherence to standards and the recognition of diverse teaching styles and preferences.

In the Ghanaian context, the transition from an objective-based curriculum to a standard-based approach, as highlighted by the Ministry of Education (2019), underscores the significance of incorporating pedagogical insights (Apau, 2021). The move is driven by the recognition that the previous curriculum model, focused on examination preparation, lacked emphasis on essential skills for human capital development. The new standard-based curriculum, therefore, necessitates a pedagogical shift towards prioritizing skills acquisition over content overload, aligning with research-supported pedagogical approaches.

The Kindergarten Curriculum in Ghana, designed to provide a positive learning experience through play and creative learning, aligns with the pedagogical understanding that young learners best acquire skills through interactive and stimulating methods (NaCCA, MoE, 2019). The acknowledgment of the formative nature of the first eight years of a child's life underscores the importance of pedagogical approaches that foster curiosity, creativity, and critical thinking. The curriculum recognizes that young learners naturally learn through play, emphasizing

the need for pedagogical strategies that align with the natural tendencies and developmental stages of these learners (Apau, 2021). In summary, incorporating pedagogical knowledge into the development and implementation of the early childhood standard-based curriculum is imperative. It ensures that teaching strategies align with the developmental needs of young learners, promoting a positive and effective learning experience that goes beyond mere adherence to standards.

2.2.2 Implementation of the Standard-Based Curriculum

The implementation of a standard-based curriculum is a multifaceted process that necessitates a thorough review, particularly with a focus on pedagogy. Examining the integration of pedagogical knowledge into the implementation of the standard-based curriculum is crucial for understanding how teaching and learning practices align with educational objectives (Rusdiana & Nasihudin, 2018). An effective curriculum implementation should demonstrate a clear alignment with both broader educational goals and pedagogical principles. Pedagogical knowledge is a cornerstone of effective teaching. This includes understanding how well teachers grasp and apply pedagogical principles in their instructional practices. Assessment practices are integral to pedagogy. This includes formative assessments that inform teaching practices and summative assessments that measure student achievement based on pedagogically sound criteria.

Perspectives on the implementation of innovations can be arranged on a continuum, depending on the amount of teacher input and the complexity of the decisions teachers are required to make. As a result, since the mid-1970s, the design of traditional implementation strategies has been divided into three perspectives: (i) fidelity (ii) mutual adaptation and (iii) enactment and all these approaches are based on different assumptions about curriculum knowledge, curriculum change and the role

of the teacher (Cho, 1998). Teachers adopt a fidelity, mutual-adaptation or enactment approach when they implement curriculum. Those adopting the fidelity approach are curriculum-transmitters who just deliver curriculum materials; teachers following the curriculum-developers who undertake curriculum adaptation approach are adjustments; whereas those who enact curriculum act as curriculum-makers who achieve significant curriculum changes (Snyder, Bolin, & Zumwalt, 1992). Each approach involves different implications for learners, teachers, curriculum and school development. Again, the different curriculum approaches can turn the official curriculum into something different from the taught curriculum; and at the same time impact differently on teachers' professional development, since each approach entails different roles and opportunities. The fidelity and mutual adaptation are found to have dominated in contemporary curriculum textbooks (Posner, 1994; Marsh & Willis, 2007). All the approaches require teachers to use a simple pattern of decision-making focused only on effective implementation of the innovations provided by educational authorities, usually the Ministry and the school board (Pinar, 2000).

Most curriculum implementation has been studied from a fidelity perspective or approach. It is the first and major implementation model. The approach deals with how sincerely implementers operate a new programme in accordance with the guidelines laid down by the developers or sponsors of the programme. Those who believe in fidelity believe that good education occurs through homogenized and standardized implementation of the curriculum while disciples of adaptive implementation emphasizes a local-oriented change process (Berman & McLaughlin, 1975; Fullan & Pomfret, 1977). The fidelity approach suggests curriculum as "a course of study, a textbook series, a guide, a set of teacher plans" (Snyder et al., 1992), where experts define curriculum knowledge for teachers. In this case,

curriculum change occurs through a central model in systematic stages, which confines the teacher"s role to delivering curriculum materials.

The key aspect of the fidelity is the degree of strictness to the specified guideline as a standard used for labeling high implementers. The concerns of researchers have been centred on measuring the degree and (also) identifying the factors, which facilitate or hinder implementation as planned. Minor changes might be accepted but the emphasis is clearly on ensuring that practice concurs with the intentions of the designer (Crandall, 1982). According to Shawer (2003), the fidelity approach leads teachers to become curriculum transmitters who use the learner's book as the only source of instructional content. They transmit textbook content as its structure dictates by means of linear unit-by-unit, lesson-by-lesson and page-by-page strategies. Neither do they use 'adaptation' strategies to adjust curriculum to their context; nor do they employ 'skipping' strategies to eliminate irrelevant studying units, lessons or tasks. Moreover, these teachers rarely supplement the missing elements and focus solely on covering content without responding to classroom dynamics.

The fidelity approach to curriculum implementation is highly optimistic about achieving pre-determined goals through the use of systematic, rational processes. Leithwood (1991) contends that developers tend to view the programme "as a relatively complete solution to a clearly defined problem in the school or school system". As a result, implementers are urged to focus their attention on the new programme and its prescriptions and to trust that "faithful" implementation will solve the problem. Underlying this approach are certain assumptions about curriculum knowledge, change, and the role of the teacher. Here, curriculum knowledge is primarily created outside the classroom by the experts who design and develop the curriculum innovation. Thus, the curriculum is evaluated to determine whether the

planned outcomes have been achieved and this would imply that implementation is successful when teachers carry out the curriculum change as directed (Leithwood, 1991). It can therefore be reasoned out that implementation is a non-problematic phenomenon which occurs unhindered provided people understand the value of an innovation and readily follow its presented practices. It is worthy to be noted that curricula are not always faithfully implemented; adequate training prior to implementation and support and monitoring during implementation have become standard features of this approach. It is further assumed that curriculum change is a rational, systematic, linear process that can be better administered if much is known about the factors that either facilitate or hinder the smooth operation of the process (Leithwood, 1991). In the same way the teacher is regarded as a consumer who should follow the directions and implement the curriculum as the experts have designed it. As the one responsible for imparting curriculum to learners, the teacher's role becomes critical to the success of the curriculum. Thus, the curriculum in this perspective may be seen as a static thing (document) – a textbook or a syllabus. This view is supported by Snyder et al. (1992) when they state that "from a fidelity point of view a curriculum is something concrete; something that can be pointed to or something that can be evaluated to see if its goals have been accomplished".

Based upon its roots in behaviorism and positivism, the fidelity perspective views the change process in a technological and linear manner. The idea of this perspective is to use the curriculum as its developers originally intended. Hence, it is firmly expected that a highly specified programme developed by experts will be actualized in practice as exactly as possible, without any modifications. For instance, where implementing a curriculum, once a final decision is made, "programmed implementation procedures (fidelity) are supposed to be followed by all levels of the organization involved"

(Berman, 1980, p. 208). Likewise, those concerned with curriculum change or improvement in this line of thought tend to believe that there is a significant relationship between the fidelity of use and the amount of planned change. The degree of implementation of an innovation is largely determined by the extent to which actual use of an innovation corresponds to planned use (Fullan & Pomfret, 1977; Loucks, 1983; Loucks & Pratt, 1979).

In order that the fidelity approach could be successfully used in implementing a curriculum, there are certain conditions which must be satisfied. Among the conditions include, clearly defining the innovation needs; developing implementation scale or checklist and redefining the role of the teacher (Snyder et al., 1992). In the first place, before any programme could be declared as being a failure because the desired outcomes were not achieved, it is necessary that one should first determine whether the programme was really implemented. In the second place, an implementation scale or checklist should be developed to match desired practices, such as use of materials and activities, new roles/behaviour, new understandings and attitudes (Fullan, 2001b). Hence, defining the actual innovation is often the first step in developing a scale or checklist which is faithful to the intentions of the developers or a panel of experts who are asked to judge the validity of the instrument being used to make sure that it matches the intentions of those who developed the curriculum innovation. Once the scale or checklist is developed and validated, it is used to assess the degree of implementation of a particular innovation of these methods.

Redefining the role of the teacher is the third and final condition to allow for the use of the fidelity approach. Gross, Giacquinta and Bernstein (1971) were asked to do a study in the late 1960s" following reports of failed programmes designed to provide equal educational opportunities for disadvantaged learners. Gross et al. (1971) felt

that the actual implementation of compensatory programmes had been inadequately measured and so it was pointed out that social scientists had been wrongly focusing on introduction of an innovation (adoption) as the fundamental problem of change. Later, Gross et al. (1971) assessed the degrees of implementation, which was labelled "Catalytic role model". This involved a change from teacher-directed to traditional instructional to child-centred instruction aimed at creating independent, responsible, thinking learners. The role of the teacher is to assist children to learn according to their interests. The teacher is also expected to emphasize the process, not the content of learning and to allow pupils maximum freedom in choosing their own activities.

The second approach to implementation of research, which grew out of the fidelity perspective, is mutual adaptation (McLaughlin, 2005). The "adaptation" approach is a "process whereby adjustments in a curriculum are made by curriculum developers and those who use it in the school" (Snyder et al., 1992, p.410). Researchers with this ambition are interested in studying how the innovation is adapted during the implementation process rather than in measuring the degree to which the innovation is implemented as planned. Models with a mutual adaptation perspective are characterized by an externally imposed middle-up dynamic (Cho, 1998). This perspective requires that the external authorities allow modifications to the innovation that has been designed by external experts for the classroom and also requires more complex decision-making by teachers as they reshape or adapt the innovation for their respective classrooms (Pinar, 2000). This perspective recognised the complexity of the classroom settings for which the curriculum was intended.

This involves conversations between teachers and external developers to adapt curriculum for local needs. This approach does not suggest curriculum knowledge different from the fidelity approach, since experts still define it, but curriculum change has become more flexible through mutual adaptations. The teacher's role has also become more active through formulating teachers' curriculum adjustments. Shawer (2003) argues that though the adaptation and curriculum-development approaches involve adaptations into the official curriculum; the development approach does not involve communications between external developers and teachers regarding teachers' adaptations. Through curriculum adjustments, teachers become curriculum-developers who use various sources in addition to curriculum materials. They adapt existing materials and topics, add new topics, leave out irrelevant elements, use flexible lesson plans, respond to learner differences and use various teaching techniques. The development approach reflects Cohen and Ball's (1999) notion of instructional capacity that results from the interactions among teachers and learners around curriculum materials, where teachers' knowledge, experience, and skills affect the interactions of learners and materials in ways that neither learners nor materials can. This way, Cohen and Ball echoed Doyle (1992) indicate that through this interaction, teachers can turn curriculum from the institutional into the pedagogical level (experienced/enacted curriculum).

According to this approach, the implemented curriculum results from mutual adaptations emerging from the users, given their interests, needs and competences, and also emerging from the central agencies. Thus, the adjustments that occur in the curriculum are made not only by central agencies, but also by the schools and in the context of the classroom, and thus imply a certain amount of negotiation and flexibility on the part of both designers and practitioners (Snyder et al., 1992). Consistent with the notion of the adaptive perspective is the sensitivity of post positivism that emphasizes the complexity of the context in which a change takes place. In curriculum implementation, this is widely referred to as "mutual adaptation,"

a term coined by McLaughlin (2005). Accordingly, most educational concerns are to fit a proposed innovation to the institutional setting that encourages reducing the gap between an ideal implementation goal and given local contexts. In short, the success of a new curriculum results from the consequence of trade-offs within a local context in which multiple values are embedded. Yet, the authority of written programmes selected is still, to a large extent, respected by change facilitators and implementers (Hall & Hord, 1987; Leithwood & Montgomery, 1982; Lewis, 1988). This approach focuses only on studying how an innovation is adapted during the implementation process without measuring the degree to which the innovation is implemented as planned. This study seeks to fill that gap.

The third implementation approach is the enactment model. This perspective is driven by an internally imposed, bottom-up dynamic (Cho, 1998). In this approach, the emphasis shifts from studying the implementation and adaptation of proposed curriculum to studying curriculum enactment. Researchers within this orientation are interested in studying how curriculum is shaped through the evolving constructs of teachers and learners. Snyder et al. (1992) offered the enactment approach to help teachers and learners make meaning in the classroom. According to this approach, the curriculum is understood as the educational experiences jointly created by learners and teachers (Snyder et al., 1992). Thus, the teacher has the role of the curriculum maker who, together with his learners, is increasingly responsible for developing educational experiences. This is where teachers and learners create meaning in the classroom so that curriculum knowledge is no longer a product as in the fidelity and adaptation approaches, but ongoing constructions out of the enacted experiences that learners and teacher create.

External knowledge is viewed as a resource for teachers who create curriculum as they engage in the ongoing process of teaching and learning in the classroom. Moreover, it is teachers and their learners who create the enacted curriculum. In addition, curriculum change is neither about implementing nor even adapting curriculum, but "a process of growth for teachers and learners, a change in thinking and practice" (Snyder, et al., 1992 p. 429). The teacher's role ranges from using, adapting and supplementing external curriculum to curriculum-making (Clandinin & Connelly, 1988; Clandinin & Connelly, 1992; Craig, 2006). The teachers have become curriculum-makers who assess learners" needs to derive curriculum themes, use strategies of curriculum-planning, curriculum-design, material-writing and curriculum-free topics. In addition, they improvise and develop and use their pedagogic techniques. The curriculum-making approach (enactment) also represents another form of classroom-level curriculum development (Shawer, 2003).

Teacher decision-making is regarded as being complex, focused on what will or will not be implemented, and how innovation will be implemented in their classrooms. In the enactment perspective, implementation of innovations in most subject areas and grade levels became more complex. Unlike many models which focused on school systems or schools, models in the enactment perspective focuses on involving teachers in implementing innovations in their classrooms (Pinar, 2000). Argued by Snyder et al. (1992), the enactment perspective refers to intracontextuality in creating meaningful educational experiences "shaped by the evolving constructs of teachers and learners" (p. 404). What makes this an alternative perspective, compared to the previous two perspectives, is the way it defines the concept of curriculum. In this perspective, different priorities for "successful" implementation can be made while the teacher and learners enact the curriculum. The text describes three paradigms—

positivism, postpositivism, and constructivism--in order to compare and contrast the basic assumptions of each perspective. Since researchers within this orientation are interested in studying how curriculum is shaped through the evolving constructs of teachers and learners, this approach will also be a means to provide the needed motivation for other stakeholders (such as head teachers and parents) to work much harder to contribute their quota to ensure successful curriculum implementation.

The implementation of the Standard-Based Kindergarten curriculum can also be explained in terms of the context, inputs, process and outputs or product-CIPP Model (Amedahe, 2007; Stufflebeam & Shinkfield, 2007). The CIPP Model is a social systems model applied to programme evaluation. The approach was developed by Stufflebeam (1971) and provides a systematic way of looking at many different aspects of the curriculum development process. It is vital to identify ways in which various stakeholders can be meaningfully involved. The concept of quality implementation is often associated with effectiveness and degree to which objectives are met (Adams, 1993; Cobbe, 1990). A quality school has teachers and learners who are efficient, effective, of high quality and may be ready to produce good results.

Context indicators refer to characteristics of the society or community at large and structural characteristics of the national education system that may be of relevance. The specific indicators of context include demographics; basic financial and economic context; educational goals and standards; public community attitudes to education; role of the school in the community; and educational preparedness of the community (Amedahe, 2007; Stufflebeam & Shinkfield, 2007). These context indicators, among others, influence in different degrees the input, process and outcome.

The input indicators refer to material, financial and human resource invested in education. They include facilities and equipment; financing; teacher characteristics; classroom characteristics; teacher training and experience; and parent support (Amedahe, 2007). These input indicators are of great importance so far as quality of education at the kindergarten level is concerned. This is so because in their absence there cannot be effective performance in the end.

The process indicators are characteristics of the learning environment and the organization of schools. The specific indicators of process, among other things, include parental and community involvement; pupils' learning characteristics; high expectation of pupils' progress; degree of evaluation and monitoring of pupils' progress; reinforcement of learners' behaviour; educational leadership; quality of school curricular; discipline; as well as opportunity to learn (Amedahe, 2007; Stufflebeam & Shinkfield, 2007). The process indicators may individually or collectively influence the output because once the indicators are taken good care of within a good context; there is the possibility of the output becoming good.

The output/outcome indicators touch on access and participation, attainment and educational achievement. Such indicators include learner academic achievement in basic curricular domains; participation rates in the various education levels; progression through the education system; as well as post-schooling outcomes (Amedahe, 2007; Stufflebeam & Shinkfield, 2007). All the major components are needed to ensure quality education at the basic level. Kindergarten education and therefore education involves a broad range of various components each with its indicators. Measures of quality education are many and any specific measure used or adopted by a group or individuals depends on their characteristics. This means that quality implementation of the Standard-Based Kindergarten curriculum depends on

teachers' professional training, availability of teachers, school management, methodological materials, and learners' learning achievements (Amedahe, 2007). As a result, quality implementation of the Standard-Based Kindergarten curriculum may be determined by: the quality of particular components of the teaching process; the quality of the relations between particular components of the school system (head teachers-teachers; teachers-learners; learners-educational goals; teachers-teaching methods); and the quality of the relations between a school and its surroundings (Amedahe, 2007; Stufflebeam & Shinkfield, 2007). For complete and successful implementation of the Standard-Based Kindergarten curriculum all these indicators are to be considered.

Unfortunately, many a time people talk about effective curriculum implementation in terms of output or outcomes, usually in terms of learners' achievements. According to a World Bank Policy Study report of 1998, educational quality is seen to mean how well the school system prepares learners to become responsible citizens and instills attitudes and values relevant to modern society in them (World Bank, 1998). Educational quality is therefore concerned with how well learners acquire knowledge, skills, competences and relevant attitudes. Also, UNESCO (1990) describes good quality basic education as the provision of essential knowledge and skills for all young people to withstand the numerous demands of a modern society.

In conclusion, a holistic review of the implementation of the standard-based curriculum must intricately consider the integration of pedagogical knowledge. Examining how pedagogical principles are embedded in teaching practices ensures that the curriculum is not only aligned with educational objectives but also embodies sound instructional strategies that enhance the learning experience for students.

2.3 Early-Grade Teachers' Understanding of Standard-Based Curriculum.

Implementation of any new or revised curriculum comes with its challenges; however, the way teachers carryout the educational process has an impact on the learning outcomes of learners (Fullan & Langworthy, 2013; Amran & Rosli, 2017). Invariably, a systematic, joyful, and appropriate teaching and learning approach can motivate learners to participate actively in the learning process (Arthur & Obeng, 2023). In essence, if a teacher has mastery over the learning areas and content standards and understands the learning needs of learners, he or she can select appropriate teaching strategies to match the needs of learners (Dilkes, Cunningham & Gray, 2014). Masnan et al., (2021) espoused that it is not the quantum of instructional materials nor its quality that matter but how teachers understans and adequately utilise the resources to achieve the needed outcomes. According to a study by Muñoz, Prather & Stronge (2011), pupils whose classrooms are filled with teachers with insufficient knowledge on pedagogical practices do worse than those whose classrooms are filled with teachers with adequate knowledge.

Salehudin (2019) maintained that teaching strategy and approach play an important part in 21st-century drawing pupils' interest towards a subject and changing their perception about the subject regarding the subject difficulties. Invariably, pedagogies employed by teachers are essential in developing the lifelong learning that has been emphasised in the Standard-based Curriculum. Highlight from research by Haron, Zalli, Othman & Awang (2021) indicated that the fundamental pedagogy to quality teaching and learning carriedout by teachers comprises principles, techniques, and processes of teaching. The responsibility of fostering the 4Rs in the Standard-based Curriculum requires teachers to possess the ability to use a variety of techniques such as brainstorming, role-play, dramitisation, field trip, discussion, games and other

learner-centred learning activities that are in consonancewith contents and competencies to be inhibited by learners (Rusdin & Ali, 2018). In view of this, teachers' knowledge and perception of 21st-century creative pedagogy becomes an important skill that will empower them to develop the capability to develop and structure creative techniques as well as communicate new ideas in effective ways (Rusdin & Ali, 2018). The readiness of teachers in executing any given curriculum is essential in enhancing the learning outcomes of learners.

Kiamba and Mutua (2016) contend that the efficacy of a class teacher lies largely on his or her readiness to understand the ability and challenges of learners and employ differentiated pedagogies in teaching. The experiences of teachers are believed to have asignificant influence on lesson delivery and the overall performance of learners (Kiamba & Mutua, 2016). However, in Zimbabwe, the Department of Education, Eunitah (2017) identified that newly trained teachers offered new knowledge, skills and rejuvenating experience to the classroom compared to the more experienced teachers. Invariably, the long classroom experience does not entirely lead to changes in pedagogical knowledge and skill. Acquisition of knowledge by teachers regardless of years in service must be intentional and continuous. This makes in-service training of teachers crucial to the professional development of teachers and the quality of teaching and learning (Ashwin, 2022).

Chepkuto, Sang & Chumba (2018) argues that the dearth of professional development of teachers has contributed to teachers' poor preparation in content and pedagogy, resulting in the recycling of 'half-baked' teachers. It is therefore important that efficient opportunities for personal growth and professional development are provided for teachers through regular in-service training. The lack of opportunities for teachers to collaborate and share best practices as colleagues contribute to the challenges of

teachers, making them ill-ready to execute changes in the curriculum (Arthur & Obeng, 2023). Inference to this argument, Cunningham's (2018) research on curriculum reforms in Eastern and Southern Africa indicated that the curriculum reforms does not necessarily translate in changes in the classrooms. Therefore, teaching remains largely didactic and learners' acquisition of 21st-century knowledge through basic literacy and numeracy, on which future learning is built, is extremely low. There is a likelihood of teachers implementing any curricula in confidence when they feel well prepared. Their readiness has a link with the opportunity to participate in continuous professional development training that will enhance their knowledge in the content and pedagogy required for effective implementation (Cetin, 2016).

Studies on the perception of curriculum change includes studies dealing with the acceptance of new curriculum documents and the acceptance of the implementation process itself. Focusing on the evaluation of new curriculum documents, Roggenbrodt (2008) revealed positive attitudes towards innovated curriculum documents in Germany. A high extent of autonomy for schools and teachers was perceived as an important reason for curriculum change acceptance. Similarly, Janík et al. (2011) investigated the perception of a new Czech curriculum document and its implementation. Their results show that teachers valued a clear characterization of educational objectives along with the accurate specification of educational content and expected outcomes when accepting the new curriculum document. Familiarity with the principles of the curriculum change was another factor affecting curriculum change acceptance as teachers who were not yet familiar with the principles of the curriculum change tended to refuse it more vigorously (Beer, 2007; Karakhanyan, van Veen & Bergen, 2011; Reichmann & Artzi, 2012).

With deeper insight into the perceptions of curriculum implementation, Rekkor, Ümarik and Loogma (2013) dealt with Estonian teachers' perceptions and their involvement in the curriculum development and implementation process and analysed five types of teachers in terms of their willingness to implement the curriculum: enthusiastic innovators, constructive-critical innovators, normative adopters, norm ignorers, and bitterly disappointed (Datnow & Castellano, 2000; Dilkes, Cunningham & Gray, 2014). The teachers tended to attribute different meanings to the national curriculum ranging from seeing the curriculum as facilitating their work (enthusiastic innovators and constructive-critical innovators) to perceiving it as restricting and complicating it (norm ignorers and bitterly disappointed). Differences in the perceptions of the curriculum were—identified among teachers from different vocational fields; the teachers in technical fields tended to be the most critical of the curriculum.

Straková (2007) found that Czech teachers who were previously satisfied with their work tended to accept curriculum change. However, only a minority of all teachers were willing to actively participate in the development of their school curriculum. Teachers with less teaching experience perceived responsibility for curriculum development more positively than other teachers. Demographic variables proved to be a significant factor influencing the perception of curriculum change in other studies as well. For instance, the length of professional experience played a significant role in a study by Tu°mová (2012), who discovered that Czech teachers with more teaching experience tended to be more pessimistic about the benefits of change (Datnow & Castellano, 2000; Smit, 2005; Roggenbrodt, 2008; Dilkes, Cunningham & Gray, 2014). More concretely focused on the reasons for curriculum change acceptance, Erbas and Ulubay (2008) found that Turkish teachers with more teaching experience

(over 21 years) associated the implementation of the curriculum change predominately with innovations in the learning-teaching process and with improvements in the use of instructional materials. In contrast, teachers with less teaching experience (6 – 20 years) focused on improvements in evaluation techniques during the implementation of the change. According to findings by Janík et al. (2010), the respondents' position in the school proved to be a significant demographic variable, as members of the school management (head teachers and deputy head teachers) appreciated the Czech curriculum change more than regular teachers did (Roggenbrodt, 2008).

Concerning the organizational and management aspects of the implementation, Germeten (2011) aimed to answer the question of how principals of Norwegian schools value school reform, indicating some barriers that they had to face during the implementation, e.g. barriers to administration, leadership, and provision of learning opportunities for children, as well as insufficient support for principals at the local and regional levels. Organizational factors, such as timing and scale of implementation activities, planning, and distribution of workload, predicted Hong Kong teachers' behavioural intentions towards promoting the new curriculum. Lee (2000) found that in addition to the organizational factors, the perceived non-monetary cost-benefit of implementing the curriculum, perceived practicality, and perceived support coming from both school and other sources shape teachers' receptivity to the curriculum change. Teachers' low receptivity (their resistance) was not only considered a matter of insufficient school and outside assistance, but also of the excessive workload they had to manage.

2.4 Pedagogical Approaches Early Childhood Teachers Adopt to Teach Learners at Early Childhood Centres.

To ensure effective learning, teachers must adopt appropriate teaching techniques that cater to the unique needs of each child. Adopting appropriate teaching techniques can significantly enhance children's learning experience and promote their academic and personal growth. Some of the teaching techniques early childhood teachers adopt to teach learners in early childhood centres are discussed below:

Play-based Learning

Play-based learning is a teaching technique that is widely used in early childhood centres as it allows children to learn through play, exploration, and discovery. This approach encourages children to learn at their own pace while having fun, leading to higher levels of engagement, motivation, and retention. Research conducted by Ludlow (2010) found that play-based learning can lead to significant improvements in children's cognitive, social, and emotional development. Additionally, a study conducted by Gander (2013) found that children who participated in play-based learning demonstrated higher levels of creativity, critical thinking, and problem-solving skills than those who did not.

According to Altun (2018), her research findings suggested that fun is the most distinguished feature of play. The other attributes of play mentioned byparticipants were relaxation/energy release, freedom, cooperation and rules. Pre-service teachers have different perspectives on teachers' verbal and physical participation in ongoing play activity. Their thoughts led three different subcategories of teachers' participation in play which are partial-participation, non-participation, and full-

participation. And finally, the findings revealed four different teachers' roles as Planner/Organizer, Observer/Guider, Play Partner, and Non-involver.

Researchers have revealed that participants perceived their roles to include engagement with children (guiding behaviours, role model, demonstrating mutual respect, playmate/friend and as facilitator); as reflective pedagogues (playing the roles of an observer, planner and evaluator) and working in partnership withparents (as educators) (Chen, 2011). A number of studies have also focused onthe role of the teacher in facilitating children's learning through play and that theteacher's participation in classroom play activities encourage children'sinvolvement in such activities (Johnson, Christie & Yawkey, 1999; Anning & Edwards, 2006).

Adult-child interaction during play activities can help children develop and practise play abilities that they have yet to master or develop (Bondioli, 2001). Thus, teachers can provide developmentally appropriate resources, ideas, and practical achievements to children through play interactions, as well as help them in the development of their own thoughts and interests (Frost et al., 2005). According to Stirrup et al., (2017), children more or less happily play their lives away in the progressive play pedagogies of early years education, in the process learning their position in social and ability hierarchies that help define their future careers inside and outside schools.

According to other studies, teachers can function as links or connectors between children and their surroundings by engaging them in play. Teachers can confirm and challenge children's senses and thoughts through play interactions, allowing them to focus on awareness, interactions, and intentions (Samuelsson & Johansson, 2006). Indeed, play necessitates a variety of teacher interactions.

Inquiry-based Learning

Inquiry-based learning is another technique used by early childhood educators, where teachers facilitate learning by asking questions that encourage children to explore, investigate, and discover the answers. This approach promotes children's natural curiosity, allowing them to learn through hands-on experiences, experimentation, and reflection. According to Odom et al. (2010), inquiry-based learning can lead to higher levels of engagement and motivation in children, as well as the development of critical thinking skills. Moreover, research conducted by Krajcik et al. (2014) found that inquiry-based learning can lead to improved science and math skills in early childhood learners.

Project-based Learning

Project-based learning is a teaching technique that involves children working on long-term projects that focus on a particular topic or theme. This approach allows children to explore a subject in-depth, promoting higher levels of engagement, motivation, and interest. Furthermore, it enables children to develop a range of skills, including collaboration, communication, problem-solving, and critical thinking. Research conducted by Krajcik et al. (2014) found that project-based learning can lead to significant improvements in children's academic achievement and critical thinking skills.

Project-based learing encourages learners to be active through pursuing their interests, providing a real-world context to their learning, while also providing intrinsic motivation and increased engagement. An additional benefit of this type of learning is that it enables learners to further develop critical thinking and problem-solving skills which are more transferable to their future needs than traditional content focused

approaches (Bell, 2010). These identified advantages align closely with a play-based approach. The importance of developing the skills associated with project-based learning is also endorsed by Thomas and Brown (2012), who raise the idea that too much focus within classrooms is given to answers rather than developing questions. This premise suggests there should be a reversal, where questions are posed and the answers can help generate better questions for further learning.

By adopting this approach, learners are able to develop their imagination, creativity and critical thinking. This notion is supported by Claxton (2013, p. 155), who states "learners need to become good learners, not secure knowers". Holloway (2018) suggests that providing learners with more opportunities to interact with problems or questions kinesthetically can increase their ability to grasp more abstract concepts. Nevertheless, the success of these ideas rely heavily on the learners having previously developed a set of skills enabling them to successfully tackle the provocations and problems presented to them. Subsequently, it is essential for learners to be supported by their teachers to build curiosity, resilience and independence by designing an overarching culture within the classroom that fosters and cultivates these dispositions (Claxton, 2018).

Technology-based Learning

Technology-based learning involves the use of various technologies such as computers, tablets, and interactive whiteboards to facilitate learning. This approach allows children to access a wide range of resources, tools, and materials that can enhance their learning experience. Moreover, it can provide opportunities for children to develop digital literacy skills, such as coding, programming, and digital media production. According to Suggate (2016), technology-based learning can lead to

significant improvements in children's academic achievement, particularly in the areas of literacy and numeracy.

Technology-based learning can provide many benefits for young children, including improving their cognitive and social-emotional development. According to a study by Blumberg and Fisch (2013), technology-based learning can increase children's problem-solving and critical thinking skills. Additionally, technology-based learning can provide children with a more engaging learning experience, which can lead to increased motivation and interest in learning (Katz, 2016).

Another benefit of technology-based learning is that it can provide children with exposure to a wide range of content, including videos, games, and interactive activities. This exposure can help children develop a more diverse range of skills and knowledge (Hirsh-Pasek et al., 2015).

Theme-Based Approach

The Theme-Based Approach to curriculum implementation is an instructional strategy that organizes educational content around overarching themes or topics, fostering interdisciplinary learning and connections between different subject areas. Instead of teaching subjects in isolation, a theme-based curriculum integrates various disciplines such as language arts, mathematics, science, social studies, and the arts under a unifying theme. Thematic units also prove to be assisting to the teachers with the paving way to facilitate learning among learners. In nursery schools, learners usually have their own ways of learning things. Therefore, with the implementation of the theme-based approaches, the learning is facilitated among learners, when they have their own ways of learning the concepts. Thematic units are common in nursery schools. The reason being, since nursery school learners learn through interactive

hands-on activities. Thematic units are mainstream among learners as well as the educators in achieve the academic goals (Tussa'diah & Nurfadillah, 2018). It is vital for the educators to understand that utilization of thematic units and implementation of theme-based learning is regarded as systematic and methodical in educating and learning. The learners are able to relate to real-world experiences and augment their understanding in terms of the topic. Thematic units also prove to be assisting to the teachers in making learning pleasurable for the learners. One of the important aspects that needs to be taken into consideration is, learners in nursery schools need to take pleasure in learning. They need to arouse interest towards learning and teachers are required to put into operation the methods and approaches, which may lead to development of motivation and facilitate learner learning (Burel, Tessier & Langdon, 2021). A thematic way to deal with instructing includes incorporating every single branch of knowledge together under one subject. It enables the learners to acquire an understanding of the topic in various forms. This can be explained with the help of an example. For example, a topic of plants is selected, then all of the classroom tasks and activities will be focused upon the topic plants. These include, artworks, crafts, colours, pictures, and even music and singing will be based on plants. The teachers need to plan the time duration, i.e. for how long, they need to focus on one particular topic and then proceed towards the next. One topic usually takes place from couple of weeks to one month. When the learners have acquired efficient understanding of the topic, then the teachers would proceed towards the next. Therefore, it can be stated that themes help the teachers as well as the learners to form the design that brings in the structure to the whole of the approach (Tussa'diah & Nurfadillah, 2018).

Activity-Based Approach in Curriculum Implementation

The activity-based approach is the approach that is focused upon the initiation of activities that are put into practice by the teachers to encourage the participation of learners. The activities that are initiated in nursery schools are based on various subjects and concepts. These include, academic concepts of alphabets, numbers, environmental concepts, drawing, painting, dance, music, singing, role play, sports and physical activities. In recent years, this approach has gained popularity in early childhood education due to its effectiveness in engaging children and enhancing their learning outcomes.

According to Lin et al. (2020), activity-based learning promotes children's learning by providing opportunities for them to explore, discover, and manipulate objects in their environment. This approach helps children to develop their problem-solving skills and encourages them to become active learners. Moreover, activity-based learning provides a platform for children to collaborate with their peers, enhancing their social skills and promoting a sense of community. Therefore, it can be stated that activity-based learning approach is regarded as one of the crucial approaches in augmenting learner learning. When the activity-based approach is implemented, it needs to be ensured that they prove to be beneficial to the learners in performing one's tasks and activities in a well-organized manner. When the learners are participating in various activities. They are able to benefit in number of ways. These include, augmenting one's communication skills, acquiring an efficient understanding of the academic concepts, getting acquainted with the school environment, and developing self-assurance.

A study by Alli et al. (2020) supports the idea that activity-based learning is an effective teaching approach for early childhood education. The study found that children who participated in activity-based learning showed significant improvements in their cognitive, social, and emotional development. The study also highlighted the importance of providing a variety of activities to engage children with different learning styles and interests. Activity-based learning is required to encourage the participation of learners in activities by stimulating their senses, such as, sight, smell, vision, feeling and getting involved with the subject. In some activities, the learners are encouraged to work with real objects, whereas, in others, they are required to work with imaginary objects. When activities are organized, the teachers need to make provision of assistance and support to the learners, so they are able to overcome problems and challenges that are associated with activities. When the activities are to be initiated, there are various aspects that need to be identified. The first and foremost aspect is, they need to know what are the areas in terms of which learners are experiencing setbacks and activities need to be centered on alleviating setbacks. Second aspect is nature of the learners. For instance, when the learners are shy or introvert in nature, then activities will have to be initiated for them to develop communication skills and interactive abilities. Third is, activities need to be organized on the basis of lesson plans and extra-curricular and creative activities, so they are able to acquire an efficient understanding of the concepts. Therefore, it can be stated that when the teachers take into account these aspects, they are able to initiate activities in an appropriate manner.

Differentiated Instruction

Differentiated instruction is an approach to teaching that takes into account the diversity of learners in a classroom and adapts instruction to meet their individual needs. In early childhood classrooms, this can be particularly important, as young children may have varying levels of development, language proficiency, and prior knowledge. Differentiated instruction is a teaching technique that involves tailoring instruction to meet the unique needs of each child. This approach allows teachers to cater to the individual learning styles, abilities, and interests of children, promoting higher levels of engagement, motivation, and achievement. Moreover, it can provide opportunities for children to develop a sense of autonomy and self-direction in their learning. Research conducted by Tomlinson (2014) found that differentiated instruction can lead to significant improvements in children's academic achievement, particularly for those who are struggling or have special needs.

One study by Tomlinson and Imbeau (2010) examined the effectiveness of differentiated instruction in kindergarten classrooms. The researchers found that learners who received differentiated instruction had higher academic achievement than those who did not, particularly in the areas of literacy and math. Additionally, learners who received differentiated instruction were more engaged and motivated to learn.

Another study by Erdem and Demir (2014) examined the impact of differentiated instruction on the language development of preschool children. The researchers found that children who received differentiated instruction showed significant improvements in their language skills, particularly in vocabulary development and expressive language.

In terms of best practices for implementing differentiated instruction in early childhood classrooms, research suggests that teachers should use a variety of instructional strategies and materials to meet the diverse needs of their learners (Robinson and Knezek, 2014). This may include using manipulatives, visual aids, and technology to supplement traditional instruction. Additionally, teachers should regularly assess their learners' progress and adjust instruction accordingly (Thousand, Villa, and Nevin, 2007).

However, it is important to note that implementing differentiated instruction in early childhood classrooms can be challenging, particularly for new teachers or those who are not familiar with the approach (Chen, 2013). Therefore, professional development and ongoing support for teachers may be necessary to ensure successful implementation.

2.5 Available Resources that Support Teachers in The Successful

Implementation of the Standard-Based Curriculum.

Curriculum implementation is a complex process that involves multiple factors, including teacher preparedness, instructional resources, and school and district support. There are many resources available to support teachers in curriculum implementation, including textbooks, curriculum guides, professional development programs, and technology-based tools.

One of the most important resources for teachers in curriculum implementation is the curriculum itself. Textbooks and curriculum guides provide teachers with detailed information about the content they are expected to teach, as well as guidance on how to deliver instruction effectively. In a study by Loveless and Ellis (2019), teachers reported that they relied heavily on curriculum materials, including textbooks and

curriculum guides, when implementing new curricula. The authors note that while these resources can be helpful, they may also limit teacher creativity and flexibility in instructional design.

Another important resource for teachers in curriculum implementation is professional development. Professional development programs can provide teachers with the knowledge and skills they need to implement new curricula effectively. In a study by Desimone et al. (2012), teachers who received professional development on a new science curriculum reported feeling more prepared to teach the new curriculum and had better learner outcomes than teachers who did not receive professional development. Professional development can also be delivered in a variety of formats, including workshops, online courses, and coaching.

Technology-based tools are also increasingly being used to support teachers in curriculum implementation. For example, learning management systems (LMS) can provide teachers with access to digital resources, such as online textbooks and multimedia content, and can also facilitate communication and collaboration among teachers and learners. In a study by McVey et al. (2020), teachers reported that using an LMS improved their ability to monitor learner progress and provide personalized feedback.

Another resources that support curriculum implementation is teaching and learning materials. Teaching and learning materials refer to any resources that teachers and learners use to facilitate the teaching and learning process. Several studies have examined the role of teaching and learning materials in curriculum implementation. For instance, a study by Omotayo and Adeyemo (2020) found that the availability of teaching and learning materials has a significant impact on the implementation of the

primary school curriculum in Nigeria. The study identified a lack of adequate teaching and learning materials as a significant barrier to effective curriculum implementation.

Similarly, another study by Toh (2019) examined the impact of teaching and learning materials on the implementation of the primary school mathematics curriculum in Singapore. The study found that the use of teaching and learning materials, such as manipulatives and visual aids, improved learners' understanding and engagement in mathematics. Furthermore, research has shown that teaching and learning materials can support curriculum implementation by promoting active learning. Active learning refers to a learning process that involves learners' participation in the learning process, such as through discussions, group work, and problem-solving activities. According to Kolb's experiential learning theory, active learning promotes learners' engagement, and it helps them to apply what they have learned to real-life situations (Kolb, 1984). Therefore, teaching and learning materials that promote active learning can support effective curriculum implementation.

2.6 Challenges that Mitigate Against Early Grade Teachers Implementation of the Standard-Based Curriculum.

Lack of resources

Educational resources can be defined as required assets or tools that have a huge impact on teaching and learning outcomes. These tools include textbooks, science laboratories, school furniture, technological equipment, and computer labs. Implementation of a new curriculum places great demands and expectations on teachers, while the support and resources available are inadequate for their everyday needs in the school (Flores, 2005; Fullan, 2007). Fullan (2007) argues that lack of

resources limits teachers' ability to implement a new curriculum effectively. Implementation of a new curriculum places additional demands on educators in schools, and there is a huge need for resources and support for educators. Lack of resources has been identified in the literature as an obstacle in the implementation of curriculum change. In rural schools, teachers need professional development in subject knowledge and pedagogical skills (Hongbiao, 2013).

According to MacPhail (2007), in Scotland the revised physical education curriculum failed because of lack of the required resources, such as textbooks. Teachers struggled to prepare for lessons with no textbooks and the needed resources (MacPhail, 2007). As reported by Penny et al. (2008), a new curriculum in Uganda called the Education Strategic Investment Plan (ESIP) failed because they did not have enough teaching and learning materials, they had no budget to pay for them, and training of teachers was insufficient. Thai scholars Prapaisit de Segovia and Hardison (2009) and Vietnamese scholars Canh and Barnard (2009) found that insufficient resources were an obstacle to implementation of a new English curriculum. A review of the national curriculum reform in China (2001–2011) shows that implementing changes in the curriculum was a slow process in rural schools, due to the lack of competence of the teachers in the absence of the support they needed.

In South Africa, Sayed et al. (2017) believed that former Model C schools are historically invested with high-quality facilities, equipment, and resources, which are crucial for their success, unlike disadvantaged schools in the rural areas and townships. This suggests that resources play a vital role in the current education system, as they assist in accelerating learning in the classroom, because when resources are limited, schools do not have the kind of support needed to help learners learn. Fullan (2007) is of the opinion that contextual as well as cultural factors should

be taken into consideration when planning and implementing a new curriculum. Adaptations, or modifications, made to the curriculum calls for additional new resources, which may not be available in some schools (Flores, 2005; Fullan, 2007). According to Fullan (2007), a lack of resources needed for teaching and learning reduces the capacity of teachers to teach a new curriculum.

Sedibe (2011) believed that equal distribution of resources in South Africa would reflect unity and a fair post-apartheid society, where teachers and learners are able to achieve positive teaching and learning outcomes with the needed resources. However, in South African schools' equal distribution of resources is still not possible, especially in rural schools (Christie, Butler & Potterton, 2007). Christie et al. (2007) explains that even if resources are lacking, it is always good for the educators and the principal to start planning at the beginning of the year how they are going to achieve their goals. This assists educators to always remember the school's vision and mission, and to not make lack of resources an excuse for not accomplishing their education goals (Mestry & Singh, 2007). This means that as much as resources are crucial for the teaching and learning process, this does not mean that teachers do not have ability. As reported by Christie et al. (2007), when educators are focused on getting good results, the school is not constrained by a lack of resources.

Inadequate training of educators

Most teacher training institutions provide short-term programmes for not many hours or days, with very few follow-up activities, which do not adequately cover the skills needed to implement changes in the curriculum (Park & Sung, 2013). Penuel, Gallagher and Moorthy (2011) states that the site where the training takes place must be equipped with all the necessary material through implementation of the curriculum

changes, especially in the initial phase. Kırkgöz (2008) agrees with Penuel et al. (2011) and stresses the need for ongoing training for educators in the initial stage of the change. Lombard, Meyer, Warnich and Wolhuter (2010) argue that one of the challenges is that teachers are not competent in the new curriculum because they have not been adequately trained. They complain about the way workshops are conducted. Workshops are inadequate, and they do not prepare educators to implement the new curriculum effectively (Maphalala, 2006; Matshidiso, 2007). There is no chance of implementing curriculum reform successfully if teachers are not in line with the reform or they do not have the necessary equipment (Ngibe,2013). Therefore, ensuring teacher development is the only way to make the new curriculum succeed (Lieberman & Pointer Mace, 2008).

Inadequate training of teachers to be able to implement changes in the curriculum amidst other unfavourable conditions, characterised by lack of resources and large classes, makes curriculum implementation a daunting task (Johnson, Monk & Swain, 2000; Nishino, 2008). The University of Nigeria in Nsukka has the largest education faculty in sub-Saharan Africa, yet it does not offer any basic course in special education, which is needed for all educators to be able to implement the curriculum. This means that teachers remain unskilled and unprepared to face the challenges of curriculum implementation. Lack of training creates fear in teachers and reluctance to implement changes, some of which relate to inclusive education. Park and Sung (2013) argue that there is an urgent need for continuous professional development of teachers, to empower them to cope with curriculum changes and implement the process successfully.

The task team for the review of implementation of the NCS once recommended thorough training of principals, deputy principals and HoDs on the roles of curriculum content, for them to be able to support teachers effectively (Department of Education, 2009). Onwu and Mogari (2004) believe that for teachers to boost their self-esteem and develop a positive attitude regarding curriculum change, they must be empowered through appropriate professional development programmes. These programmes are planned to bring about change in teachers' beliefs, attitude and perceptions regarding curriculum change, and the way they will behave in the classroom when delivering the change. Penuel, Fishman, Yamaguchi, and Gallagher (2007) argue that these programmes are very short, with no follow-up activities. The process of implementation of curriculum reform requires continuous professional development of educators (Halbert & MacPhail, 2010).

Teachers' workload

Curriculum reforms can result in an increase in the workload of teachers, because in addition to the routine preparation for teaching, the teacher must incorporate new elements in their work (Day, 2002). Cheung and Wong (2012) assert that in-service training and the repeated meetings, although necessary in light of changes in the curriculum, can also increase the workload of educators. Park and Sung (2013) and Cheung and Wong (2012) state that teachers' inadequate understanding of the reforms, and lack of support to teachers in implementing curriculum changes, can increase the workload of teachers, as they struggle to learn new skills required to implement the curriculum. The increase in workload may limit the extent to which teachers adapt to implementing changes in the curriculum (Zimmerman, 2006).

Teachers are very important during the implementation period. Therefore, their opinions should matter when implementation of curriculum change occurs, and their contribution should not be ignored (Vähäsantanen, 2014). When curriculum change is

introduced, teachers are given the responsibility to unpack these changes, and also to present them in the classroom (Troudi & Alwan, 2010). These changes make them work under a lot of pressure, and they have to make sure that they maintain their daily classroom activities smoothly (Kelchtermans, 2009). As a result of curriculum change, the workload increases, and this erodes teachers' independence and challenges their professional identity (Day & Smethem, 2009). The increased workload is a significant challenge, especially in rural schools (under-resourced schools), because of budgetconstraints, where the schools are given a very low post establishment due to low enrolment. Under such conditions, teachers are given many subjects to teach, which puts considerable strain on them.

Due to the shortage of teachers, in most rural schools they recruit non-professional, unqualified teachers to assist in the school. This is the strategy they use to address the shortage of teachers and to reduce the workload on teachers (Chikoko, 2006; Reddy, 2003). However, use of these non-professional teachers produces poor-quality education and is associated with poor performance in terms of learner outcomes. It is expected that use of non-professional teachers could produce poorly educated learners. Mukeredzi (2016) agrees, namely that learners taught by qualified educators perform much better than learners taught by unqualified educators. In rural schools in South Africa the learners receive a poor education, because there are many unqualified teachers (Mitchell, De Lange, Balfour & Islam, 2011).

Curriculum change demands a radical change in the role of teachers, and it depends on teachers' willingness to implement it, because it is a lot of work to do. Educators' ability to perform well in reform requires significant changes in their knowledge, their beliefs and their instructional practices (Putnam & Borko 1997). These changes may cause most teachers to resist curriculum change (Zimmerman, 2006).

Support in the implementation of curriculum change

Van der Merwe (2002) posits that there is a need for more support to be given to teachers to enable them to implement the modified curriculum. This suggests that teachers must be adequately supported and motivated to deal with the difficulties inherent in implementing curriculum change. Marton (2006) asserts that teachers receive very little support to handle the mandated changes in the textbooks used and the curriculum. Selesho (2012) agree with Marton (2006) and add that the workshops provided in an attempt to address the curriculum implementation problems still fall short of taking into consideration the reality of the classroom situation that educators face when implementing curriculum change in schools. The Vietnamese physical education (PE) curriculum at Queensland University failed because it was hindered by a lack of professional development and insufficient support for existing PE instructors.

It is important to support teachers during the implementation of curriculum change because it promotes teachers' self-efficacy (Govender, 2018). Govender (2018) argues that teachers play an integral part in education reform, and that they therefore need support within the school and outside the school. The leadership skills of the principal can support the teaching culture and the organisation techniques, where teachers can talk about anything, including teaching and learning about the curriculum, and where they can teach each other what they have learnt about their craft (Everard, Morris & Wilson, 2004; Okumbe, 2007).

Education methods and activities can only be implemented fruitfully when teachers have knowledge about the new curriculum. This means that teachers are expected to be up to date on curriculum-related developments. They should have appropriate

knowledge, skills, beliefs and attitudes, so that they can be positive agents of change, or the envisaged change is likely to fail (Ramroop, 2004). Guskey (1986) agrees and emphasizes the need to encourage teachers and to support them in the process of implementing a new curriculum, because lack of support and guidance to teachers is the reason most curriculum changes fail.

Learners with barriers

Learners with barriers are unable to engage fully in the learning process. It is believed that learners with barriers are at risk in formal education. It is unfortunate that learners with barriers are expected to enter mainstream education and perform like other learners. Learners with barriers may not have the chance to develop the values, skills and attitudes expected of learners in the first grades. Donald, Lazarus and Lolwana (2002) agree that learners with barriers are at risk, especially in Grade 1. This is because it is not easy for learners with barriers, especially ones from disadvantaged backgrounds, to get the attention they need or deserve to cope in the classroom. An earlier study by Weikart (1989) found that learners with barriers usually drop out of school, or are placed in special schools, or are detained, or lose confidence in their academic ability. Donald et al. (2002) concurs with Weikart when they posit that learners from disadvantaged backgrounds with malnutrition, poverty or diseases, such as Aids, are more likely to experience barriers in learning than learners from developed countries.

Fuchs and Fuchs (2002) suggest that interventions need to be done for learners with barriers to improve their learning abilities, because most of the time these learners are excluded from formal education. Learners with barriers need help, especially those in mainstream education. There is a mandate encouraging equal education for all

learners irrespective of barriers, and this mandate is rendered in many countries. The importance of early childhood development is stressed in the White Paper on Education and Training (Alfonso & DuPaul, 2020). The South African Schools Act and the White Paper 6 on Special Needs Education mandate education for all learners with barriers in South African schools. Johnstone and Chapman (2009) highlight the following challenges that educators encounter when teaching learners with intellectual disabilities in the classroom: pressure, the behaviour of these learners, their capabilities, and lack of teacher–parent contact. An investigation found that teachers trained to teach inclusive education have positive attitudes when dealing with learners with barriers in their classroom (Stella, Forlin & Mei Lan, 2007).

2.7 Conceptual Framework

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this study investigates the intricate relationships between independent variables—early-grade teachers' knowledge of the standard-based curriculum, pedagogical approaches adopted, available resources, and challenges faced—and the dependent variable, which is the Implementation of the Standard-Based Curriculum. Each independent variable plays a unique role in shaping how early-grade teachers navigate the implementation of the standard-based curriculum in the Atwima-Kwawoma District.

Independent Variables early-grade teachers' knowledge of the standard-**Dependent Variable** pedagogical approaches earlygrade teachers adopt to teach learners using standard-based curriculum Implementation of the available resources that support Standard-Based Curriculum early-grade teachers in the successful implementation of the standard-based curriculum challenges early-grade teachers face in implementing the standard-based curriculum Figure 2.1: Conceptual Framework Source: Author's Construct **Independent Variables**

1. Early-Grade Teachers' Knowledge of the Standard-Based Curriculum:

A solid understanding of the standard-based curriculum forms the foundation for successful implementation. Teachers who possess in-depth knowledge of the curriculum are better equipped to align their teaching practices with its objectives, ensuring that the content is effectively delivered to students.

2. Pedagogical Approaches Adopted by Early-Grade Teachers:

The pedagogical approaches chosen by teachers significantly impact how they translate curriculum content into meaningful learning experiences. Effective pedagogical strategies enhance student engagement, comprehension, and retention, thereby facilitating the successful implementation of the standard-based curriculum.

3. Available Resources Supporting Early-Grade Teachers

The adequacy and accessibility of resources, including teaching materials, technology, and support systems, directly influence teachers' ability to implement the standard-based curriculum. Well-equipped classrooms and sufficient resources contribute to more effective and engaging instruction.

4. Challenges Faced by Early-Grade Teachers

Challenges, whether related to curriculum content, classroom dynamics, or external factors, can impact the implementation process. Teachers' ability to navigate and address these challenges is crucial for the successful execution of the standard-based curriculum.

Dependent Variable: Implementation of the Standard-Based Curriculum

The successful implementation of the standard-based curriculum is the overarching outcome influenced by the interplay of early-grade teachers' knowledge, pedagogical approaches, resource availability, and challenges faced. It reflects how well teachers can translate their understanding and instructional strategies into effective practice.

In summary, the conceptual framework outlines the interconnected relationships between early-grade teachers' knowledge, pedagogical approaches, resource availability, challenges faced, and the ultimate outcome of successful Implementation of the Standard-Based Curriculum. Mediating factors and contextual elements add depth to the framework, recognizing the dynamic and evolving nature of curriculum implementation in the educational context of the Atwima-Kwawoma District.

2.8 Chapter Summary

Chapter 2 begins by outlining the areas covered in the literature review, which include the Theoretical Framework, Conceptual Framework, and specific strands related to research questions. The theoretical framework delves into the Constructivist Learning Theory, emphasizing the works of Piaget and Vygotsky. The theory posits that learners actively construct knowledge through experiences, interactions, and reflections. The study also reviewed the diffusion of innovation theory by Rogers in 1970, providing a framework for understanding the adoption and spread of new ideas. The Top-Down Theory, proposed by Richard Gregory, suggests that educational policies are formulated at higher authorities and trickle down to classrooms. Introduced by James J. Gibson, the Bottom-Up Theory highlights the active role of teachers in shaping curriculum implementation. It emphasizes teachers as decisionmakers who contribute to the design and adaptation of the curriculum based on their expertise. Chapter 2 continues with a focus on the Conceptual Framework, emphasizing two critical components: the Early Childhood Standard-Based Curriculum and the Implementation of the Standard-Based Curriculum. By delving into both the theoretical underpinnings and practical aspects, the chapter sets the stage for an in-depth examination of how these conceptual elements influence the teaching and learning experiences in early-grade education within the Atwima-Kwawoma District. The Conceptual Framework serves as a crucial bridge between theoretical foundations and the on-the-ground realities of curriculum application and teacher practices.

The chapter also reviewed literature on the strands of the research question which included (1) early-grade teachers' understanding of standard-based curriculum (The chapter highlights the critical impact of teachers' understanding on learner outcomes

in curriculum implementation), (2) pedagogical approaches early grade teachers adopt (Various approaches like play-based learning, inquiry-based learning, and differentiated instruction enhance children's academic and personal growth), (3) available resources for successful implementation (Curriculum implementation complexity involves teacher preparedness, instructional resources, and support. Resources include textbooks, curriculum guides, professional development programs, and technology-based tools), (4) challenges in early-grade teachers' implementation (Identifies challenges such as lack of resources, inadequate training, teacher workload, and learners with barriers). The chapter again, introduces a conceptual framework exploring relationships between independent variables (knowledge, pedagogical approaches, resources, challenges) and the dependent variable (Implementation of the Standard-Based Curriculum).

CHAPTER THREE

METHODOLOGY

3.0 Overview

The methodology employed to conduct the study has been covered in this chapter. Sub-topics include research methodology, research philosophy, research approach, design, population, sample, sampling technique, data collection tool, source of data, data gathering procedure, method of data analysis, and ethical considerations.

3.1 Philosophical Underpinning

The positivist perspective was adopted for the study. The positivists believe that reality is out there and can be observed. The philosophy operates under the assumption that the object under study is observed "from a distance". Thus, attempts are made to avoid human perceptions or manipulations. The result from the use of this philosophy is said to be objective and based on strict rules and procedures (Sarantakos, 2005). On the opposite side are the interpretivists who believe that reality is in the minds of the people and it is internally experienced. And that the meanings and interpretations people give to phenomenon are more important (Creswell, 2009).

Related to the positivist's philosophy is the use of the quantitative method of inquiry which was adopted for the study. With this method data is numerically described and represented. Survey method of inquiry was used for this study based on the research design which is descriptive. According to Creswell (2009), the survey method allows for the opinions or perceptions of a population, based on a sample to be collected through questionnaire. This buttresses Zikmund's (2003) assertion that surveys are

usually used to collect quantifiable data which are examined, analyzed and findings reported. Therefore, the use of quantitative method for this study is plausible.

3.2 Research Approach

The research approach adopted for this study was the quantitative research which defined as a systematic investigation of phenomena by gathering quantifiable data and performing statistical, mathematical, or computational techniques (Mohajan, 2020). Quantitative research collects information from existing and potential customers using sampling methods and sending out online surveys, online polls, and questionnaires. The researcher used quantitative approach to produce objective data that can be clearly communicated through statistics and numbers.

3.3 Research Design

Descriptive survey research design was adopted for this study. Research design is seen as the blue print, which specifies how data relating to a given problem should be collected and analysed. It provides the procedural outcome for the conduct of any investigation. Gay (2002) stated that research design entails the structure of a study, the nature of the hypotheses and the variables involved in the study. The study adopted descriptive survey research design. The choice of research design for a particular study is based on the purpose of the study according to the views of Cohen, Manion and Morrison (2007) and Creswell (2013). Since this study aimed at examining early-grade teachers' pedagogical knowledge in the implementation of the standard-based curriculum in Atwima-Kwawoma district, descriptive survey was considered the most appropriate design for the study. Survey techniques was used to collect data, answer research questions and test hypotheses to enable the researcher

ascertain respondents' perceptions on the current practices for easy description of the situation and to make intelligent recommendations to improve the situation.

Cohen, Manion and Morrison (2007) assert that, surveys are appropriate for this type of research because they allow the collection of data which may be used to assess current practices and conditions and to make intelligent plans to improve them. Brewer (2009) also state that obtaining answers from a large group of people to a set of carefully designed and administered questions, lies in the heart of survey research.

Again, the descriptive sample research was deemed appropriate as attempts were made by the researcher to describe some aspects of the population by selecting unbiased sample of individuals who were asked to complete questionnaires. The descriptive sample research design was also chosen because in considering the purpose of the study, the research questions and the magnitude of the target population, it was the most appropriate design which could lead the researcher to achieve the purpose and to draw meaningful conclusions from the study.

3.4 Population

The target population for the study was 205 teachers in early grade public schools in the Atwima-Kwawoma District. The accessible population comprised 132 early-grade teachers within the Atwima- Kwawoma District. The researcher determined the sample size using Krejchie and Morgan (1970) table of determining sample size.

3.5 Sample and Sampling Technique

Simple random sampling technique was used to select the 132 early-grade teachers. This was done using the rand function in Microsoft excel. The excel rand function returns unique random numbers between 0 and 1 to each individual within the sampling frame. With this, the names of the teachers were arranged in a single column in a systematic order. Each teacher were assigned a random number using the rand function (Bhushan, Kumar, Pandey & Singh, 2021). The function is volatile, meaning the assigned values changes anytime a cell is edited. To stop the random numbers from being updated, the researcher copied and pasted the values (Bhushan, Kumar, Pandey & Singh, 2021). The researcher proceeded by sorting the random numbers, the first 132 early-grade teachers were selected for the study.

3.6 Data Collection Instrument

3.6.1 Structured Questionnaire

A structured questionnaire was used to gather data on early-grade teachers' perception of the implementation of the standard-based curriculum in the Atwima-Kwawoma District, pedagogical approaches early-grade teachers adopt to teach learners at early childhood centres in the Atwima-Kwawoma District, available resources that support early-grade teachers in the successful implementation of the standard-based curriculum in the Atwima-Kwawoma District, challenges early-grade teachers face in implementing the standard-based curriculum in the Atwima-Kwawoma District.

A structured questionnaire is an instrument for research, which consists of a list of questions, along with the choice of answers, printed or typed in a sequence on a form used for acquiring specific information from the respondents (Aryal, 2020). Questionnaires are doubtless one of the primary sources of obtaining data in any

research endeavour. However, the critical point is that when designing a questionnaire, the researcher should ensure that it is "valid, reliable and unambiguous" (Zohrabi, 2013).

The structured questionnaire used was a Likert scale questionnaire with choices presented in a five-point scale ranging from: Strongly Disagree (SD), Disagree (D), Neutral (N), Agree (A), and Strongly Agree (SA). Each of the options was valued as follows: SA (4), A (3), D (2), and SD (1). It was a self-constructed questionnaire with 2 parts, namely; 'I' and 'II'. Part 'I' focused on the demographic data of the respondents. Section, 'II', focused on themes derived from the research objectives.

The structured questionnaire was selected because it is used for collecting statistically quantifiable data, allowing straightforward statistical analysis of the responses. Also, it is proven to be excellent statistical data to obtain quantitative data about people's attitudes, values, experiences, and past behaviour (Bell, 2008). Again, when similar questions are administered simultaneously to a large number of people, the acquired data are more identical, correct, and standard (Zohrabi, 2013). A structured questionnaire is as well an efficient means of collecting data on a large-scale basis. Nonetheless, a structured questionnaire lacks detail. Because the responses are fixed, there is less scope for respondents to supply answers which reflect their true feelings on a topic. It can also lead to dishonest responses. Though the use of a structured questionnaire has some weaknesses, its strengths outweigh the when weaknesses when used to collect quantitative data; hence the use of a questionnaire for quantitative data collection in this study.

3.6.2 Validity of the Questionnaire

Validity of the instrument refers to the correctness of results and soundness of conclusions reached in the study (Kothari & Chand-Mall, 2014). The development of the questionnaire was done by examining the research objectives and related literature and consulting research experts from the department of at University of Education, Winneba. The questionnaire was also examined carefully by research supervisors to ensure coverage of all the objectives in the questionnaire. Modifications were done for questions that were wrongly framed before reliability testing.

3.6.3 Reliability of the Questionnaire

Reliability refers to the consistency of results generated by a research instrument. Reliability is used to indicate the extent to which the different items, measures, or assessments are consistent with one another and the extent to which each measure is free from measurement error (Leech, Barrett & Morgan, 2015). Reliability of the questionnaire was checked by using Cronbach alpha. Cronbach alpha reliability coefficient was selected because it is a much more reliable way of checking the internal consistency of the instrument (Creswell, 2013). The questionnaire was pretested among 25 early childhood teachers in the Bosomtwe District. This is because they had similar characteristics with the ones used for actual study. A reliability coefficient of 0.70 and above was considered acceptable for the research instruments as recommended by Wallen and Fraenkel (2013). When the research instruments were tested, the study obtained the values of 0.82 for questionnaires administered to teachers.

3.7 Data collection Procedure

The data collection procedure started with securely an introductory letter from the Department of Early Childhood Education at the University of Education, Winneba (UEW). The introductory letter was then sent to the authorities at the educational directorate of Atwima-Kwawoma District in the Ashanti Region for their permission to contact the schools in the District. Prior to data collection, participants were informed about the study's purpose and their rights. They were required to provide their consent before participating in the study. The researcher engaged the services of two research assistants to help in the data collection procedure due to the large sample size involved.

The questionnaires were distributed to the respondents with the assistance of the two research assistants. Closed-ended questions with a rating scale were included in the survey. The questionnaires were returned to the respondents with enough time for them to answer. 132 questionnaires total were filled out and returned. This resulted in a 100% survey response rate.

3.8 Data Presentation and Analysis

With the use of the Statistical Product for Service Solution (SPSS) software, the researcher input the data to perform, Descriptive Statistics, such as frequency tables, mean and standard deviations to analyse the obtained data from sampled respondents.

3.9 Ethical Consideration

Research ethics refers to the correct rules of conduct necessary to adhere to carrying out a research. Researchers have moral responsibility to protect participants from harm (Mcleod & O'Connor 2020). The researcher addressed all ethical concerns which include informed consent, anonymity and confidentiality. The researcher

obtained informed verbal consent from respondents before commencement of the data collection. The respondents were made aware that their participation is voluntary, and that they are free to decline or accept or decline to engage in the research. Anonymity of participants was also highly taken into consideration in this study. Research indicates that anonymity is a vital issue in research ethics because it gives the participants the opportunity to have their identity concealed (Bulmer, 2001).

In this research, pseudonym was used to identify participants which cannot be traced to the participants. Codes were also adopted where necessary to ensure anonymity. In order not to unnecessarily invade the privacy of participants, the researcher made prior visits to schools before the data collection commenced. Neither names nor any identifiable information from respondents were taken as a way of ensuring the anonymity of participants. On the issue of confidentiality, efforts were made to maintain confidentiality of the responses of the participants. Participants were told that their responses would be kept confidentially and that no one known to them would have access to the information provided and none of the respondents' names would be recorded in the study.

CHAPTER FOUR

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

4.0 Overview

This chapter presents the results of the analysis of the questionnaire data based on the purpose of the study. The purpose of the study was to examine early-grade teachers' pedagogical knowledge in the implementation of the standard-based curriculum in Atwima-Kwawoma District. The analysis and interpretation of data were carried out based on the results of the four (4) research questions formulated for the study. The analysis was based on the 100% return rate data obtained from 132 teachers for the study. The quantitative data were analysed using means, standard deviations, frequencies, and percentages. The first part of this chapter describes the background information of the respondents. The obtained data on the demographics were analysed using frequencies, and percentages. In the second part, the research findings are presented based on the research questions formulated for the study.

4.1 Background Information of Respondents

This section is concerned with the examination of significant topics pertaining to the demographic characteristics of the respondents. These include distribution of respondents by gender, age distribution, area of specialisation, rank in GES, number of years serving as a Kindergarten teacher.

Table 4.1: Background Profile of Respondents

		Frequency	Percent
Gender	Male	16	12.1
	Female	116	87.9
Total		132	100
Age Range	20 years and below	2	1.5
_	21 - 30 years	25	18.9
	31 - 40 years	79	59.8
	41 - 50 years	16	12.1
	51 - 60 years	10	7.6
Total	•	132	100.0
Area of Specialization	Early Childhood Education	39	29.5
•	Basic education	80	60.6
	Special education	6	4.5
	Other	7	5.3
Total		132	100.0
Professional	Diploma	29	22.0
Qualification	•		
	First degree	58	43.9
	PGDE	34	25.8
	Master's degree	11	8.3
Total		132	100.0
Rank	Superintendent I	9	6.8
	Senior Superintendent II	21	15.9
	Senior Superintendent I	17	12.9
	Principal Superintendent	68	51.5
	Assistant Director II	12	9.1
	Assistant Director I	5	3.8
Total	AMON FOR SERV	132	100.0
Years at Present	0-5 years	32	24.2
School	•		
	6-10 years	48	36.4
	11 - 15 years	36	27.3
	16 – 20 years	9	6.8
	21 years and above	7	5.3
Total		132	100.0
	0.0.0		

Source: Field Survey, 2023

Table 4.1 shows the percentage of responses by gender, age, area of specialisation, Professional qualification, GES rank, and number of years at current school. In the gender category, the results showed that male teachers made up 12.1% of the respondents, which meant that female teachers made up 87.9% of the respondents. This implies that females made up the overwhelming majority of the population. By

extrapolating these statistics, it may be concluded that the survey's conclusions were impacted by the perspectives of more female than male kindergarten teachers. Because no comparisons were done between male and female teachers, the result had no bearing on the research because the questionnaire was not gender specific.

In terms of age, the findings indicated that 1.5 % were under the age of 20; the majority of the respondents (59.8 %) were between the ages of 21 and 30. 18.9% of them were between 31 to 40 years; 12.1% were within the ages of 41 to 50 years, and a relative number of respondents (7.6%) were within the age group of 51 to 60 years. By implication, the findings indicate that the majority of teachers were members of the active working group. Although, since no comparison was done on the age distribution of the respondents, the substantial number of teachers between the ages of 21 and 30 did not alter the findings.

Also, the result showed that 29.5% respondents were specialized in early childhood education. 60.6% were specialized in basic education. 4.5% of the respondents were specialized in basic education while 5.3% were in other specialization. It could further be observed that 22.0% of the respondents possess diploma; 43.9% of them had bachelor's degree; 7.6% of them had a post diploma degree in education; and finally, the rest 8.3% of them had master's degree. Furthermore, in relation to the rank in GES, the result showed that 6.8 of the respondents are ranked superintendent I; majority of the respondents (15.9%) of the respondents belonged to the senior superintendent II rank; 12.9% of them were senior superintendent I; 51.5% of them were principal superintendent; 9.1% of them belonged to assistant director I and finally, 3.8% of them were assistant director I.

In addition, result based on the number of years spent at present school showed that 24.2% of the respondents had served between 0 to 5 years at the present school; 36.4% of them served as kindergarten teachers for about 6 to 10 years at the present school; 27.3% of them served between 11 to 15 years at the present school; 6.8% of them served between 16 to 20 years and the present school and finally, the rest 5.3% of them served as kindergarten teachers for about 21 years and above at the present school. The results imply that most of the teachers had been in the service for a quite number of years and could provide the needed information for the study. Nevertheless, the large size of the teachers had taught for 6-10 years but did not affect the results there was no comparison on years in service. **Research Question 1**

4.2 What are early-grade teachers' Pedagogical Knowledge of the implementation of the standard-based curriculum in the Atwima-Kwawoma District?

This section presents data on early-grade teachers' perception of the implementation of the standard-based curriculum in the Atwima-Kwawoma District. Teachers provided responses to 9 items in the questionnaire.

Table 4.2: Early-grade teachers' perceptions of the implementation of the standard-based curriculum

Statement	SD	D	N	A	SA	M/Std
	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	
I can explain the standard-based	0	0	19	96	17	3.98/0.53
curriculum.	(0.0)	(0.0)	(14.)	(72.7)	(12.9)	
I have received two or three	2	2	22	81	25	3.95/0.74
trainings on the implementation of the standard-based curriculum.	(1.5)	(1.5)	(16.7)	(61.4)	(18.9)	
I know of three and more	0	4	45	74	9	3.67/0.65
principles of curriculum change.	(0.0)	(3.0)	(34.1)	(56.1)	(6.8)	
I have observed that the standard-	0	2	34	63	33	3.96/0.76
based curriculum is well-aligned	(0.0)	(1.5)	(25.8)	(47.7)	(25.0)	
with the needs of our learners.						
With my experience, I have	0	7	30	68	27	3.87/0.80
identified that the standard-based	(0.0)	(5.3)	(22.7)	(51.5)	(20.5)	
curriculum provides clear learning objectives for learners.						
I have noticed that the standard-	Ω) 2	20	67	43	4.14/0.72
based curriculum has improved learner-learning outcomes.	(0.0)	(1.5)	(15.2)	(50.8)	(32.6)	
My readiness in executing the	0	0	25	71	36	4.08/0.68
standard-based curriculum is	(0.0)	(0.0)	(18.9)	(53.8)	(27.3)	1.00/0.00
essential in enhancing the learning outcomes of learners	, ,				,	
The standard-based curriculum	0	7	10	64	51	4.20/0.80
has provided me with useful guidance for planning my lessons	(0.0)	(5.3)	(7.6)	(48.5)	(38.6)	
the standard-based curriculum has	4	7	13	88	20	3.86/0.85
improved the overall quality of	(3.0)	(5.3)	(9.8)	(66.7)	(15.2)	3.00/0.03
instruction in our school	` /	` /	` ,	` /	` ,	

Source: Field Survey, 2023

Table 4.2 reveal that 17 respondents agreed to the statement that "I can explain the standard-based curriculum." whiles 96 respondents disagreed with the statement. However, 19 of the respondents remained neutral in their responses to the statement.

The statement recorded a mean value of 3.98 (Std= 0.53). Also, the result reveals that 25 of the respondents strongly agreed to the statement "I have received two or three trainings on the implementation of the standard-based curriculum" whiles 81 agreed to the statement, 22 of them were neutral. However, 2 of respondents disagreed to the statement and 2 of them strongly disagreed with the statement. The statement recorded a mean value of 3.95 (Std= 0.74). These findings highlight the need for continued efforts to improve understanding and confidence in the standard-based curriculum, as well as to tailor training programs to address the specific needs and concerns of different respondents. Additionally, the relatively low standard deviation for the first statement suggests a more consistent perception of respondents' ability to explain the curriculum compared to the training statement, which had a higher standard deviation, indicating more varied responses.

Moreover, the analysis reveals that 9 of the respondents agreed to the statement that "I know of three and more principles of curriculum change." while 74 of them agreed to the statement; 45 of them neither agreed or disagreed to the statement with 4 of them disagreeing to the statement. The statement recorded a mean value of 3.67 (Std=0.76). Furthermore, the analysis shows that 33 of the respondents agreed to the statement "I have observed that the standard-based curriculum is well-aligned with the needs of our learners"; 63 of them disagreed to statement, whereas, 34 respondents were neutral and 2 of them disagreed to the statement. The statement recorded a mean value of 3.96 (Std=0.76). The results also indicates that 27 of the respondents strongly agreed to the statement "with my experience, I have identified that the standard-based curriculum provides clear learning objectives for learners.", whereas 68 of them agreed to the statement; 30 of them were neutral in their responses to this statement. However, 7 of them disagreed to the statement. The

statement recorded a mean value of 3.87 (Std= 0.80). In addition, the analysis revealed that 43 of the respondents rated the statement "I have noticed that the standard-based curriculum has improved learner-learning outcomes" strongly agreed; 67 of them rated the statement as agreed whiles 20 of them were neutral in their rating. However, 2 of the them disagreed to this statement. The statement recorded a mean value of 4.14 (Std= 0.72).

The data suggests that there is a mix of opinions and perceptions among the respondents regarding curriculum change principles and the standard-based curriculum's effectiveness. While some respondents are familiar with curriculum change principles and perceive the curriculum as having clear learning objectives and improving learner outcomes, there is a significant degree of variability and divergence in views, particularly concerning the alignment of the curriculum with learner needs.

Furthermore, the result reveals that 36 of the respondents strongly agreed to the statement "My readiness in executing the standard-based curriculum is essential in enhancing the learning outcomes of learners" whiles 71 of them agreed to this statement. However, it could be seen that 25 of the respondents were neutral in rating this statement. The statement recorded a mean value of 4.08 (Std= 0.68). Again, it could be seen in Table 4.2 that 51 of the respondents strongly agreed to the statement "The standard-based curriculum has provided me with useful guidance for planning my lessons", 64 of them agreed to the statement, however, 7 of them disagreed to the statement whereas 10 were neutral in their responses to the statement. The statement recorded a mean value of 4.20 (Std= 0.80). Again, the results show that 20 respondents strongly agreed to the statement "the standard-based curriculum has improved the overall quality of instruction in our school". 88 of them agreed with the

statement while 13 of them were neutral. 7 of them disagreed while 4 of them strongly disagreed to the statement. The statement recorded a mean value of 3.86 (Std= 0.85).

Research Question 2

4.3 What pedagogical approaches do early-grade teachers adopt to teach learners at early childhood centres in the Atwima-Kwawoma District?

This section presents data on thep edagogical approaches early-grade teachers adopt to teach learners at early childhood centres in the Atwima-Kwawoma District.

Teachers provided responses to 7 items in the questionnaire.

Table 4.3: pedagogical approaches do early-grade teachers adopt to teach learners at early childhood centres

Statement	SD (%)	D (%)	N (%)	A (%)	SA (%)	M/Std
I adopt play-based pedagogy to teach learners	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	62 (47.0)	70 (53.)	4.53/0.50
I adopt inquiry-based learning approach to teach learners	2 (1.5)	9 (6.8)	21 (15.9%)	65 (49.2)	35 (26.5)	3.92/0.91
I adopt project-based learning approach to teach learners	8 (6.1)	4 (3.0)	52 (39.4)	36 (27.3)	32 (24.2)	3.61/1.08
I adopt technology-based learning approach to teach learners	17 (12.9)	30 (22.7)	24 (18.2)	45 (34.1)	16 (12.1)	3.09/1.25
I adopt theme-based approach to teach learners	8 (6.1)	3 (2.3)	9 (6.8)	74 (56.1)	38 (28.8)	3.99/0.99
I adopt activity-based learning approach to teach learners	0 (0.0)	5 (3.8)	4 (3.0)	53 (40.2)	70 (53.0)	4.42/0.73
I adopt differentiated instruction to teach learners	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	17 (56.8)	75 (27.3)	4 (3.0)	4.20/0.70

Source: Field Survey, 2023

table 4.3 above presents data on the pedagogical approaches adopted by early-grade teachers to teach learners at early childhood centers in the Atwima-Kwawoma District. The data is based on teachers' responses to seven specific statements in the questionnaire. The table also includes percentages for different response categories, including Strongly Disagree (SD), Disagree (D), Neutral (N), Agree (A), and Strongly Agree (SA). Additionally, there is a Mean (M) and Standard Deviation (Std) calculated for each statement.

Data show that out of a sample of 132 teachers, 47.0% agreed that they adopt play-based pedagogy to teach learners and 53.0% strongly agreed that they adopt play-based pedagogy to teach learners. The results show that none of the teachers disagree or strongly disagree with the use of play-based pedagogy to teach learners. The result also recorded a mean value of 4.53 and standard deviation of 0.50. The result shows that a significant majority of early-grade teachers in the Atwima-Kwawoma District strongly agree (53.0%) that they adopt a play-based pedagogy to teach learners. This indicates a high level of utilization of this approach.

Also, out of 132 teachers, 49.2% agreed that they adopt an inquiry-based learning approach to teach learners and 26.5% strongly agreed to the use of an inquiry-based learning approach to teach learners. Only 1.5% and 6.8% of the respondents strongly disagree and disagree respectively. It can be deduced that a considerable percentage of teachers agree (49.2%) or strongly agree (26.5%) (M= 3.92 and SD= 0.91) that they adopt an inquiry-based learning approach, suggesting a substantial use of this approach in their teaching.

Data in table 4.3 further shows that majority (39.4%) of the teachers were neutral concerning the adoption of a project-based learning approach to teach learners.

However, 27.3% of them agreed to adopt a project-based learning approach to teach learners and 24.2% of the teachers strongly agreed. Only 3.0% and 6.1% of the total sampled teachers disagree and strongly disagree with adopting a project-based learning approach to teach learners. Teachers in the district exhibit a wide range of responses, with the highest percentage being neutral (39.4%). This suggests a mixed use of project-based learning approaches in early-grade classrooms.

Again, the data in table 4.3 shows that 34.1% of the teachers strongly agreed that they adopt a technology-based learning approach to teach learners, 12.1% of them strongly agree. However, a significant number of the teachers (22.7%) disagree that they use a technology-based learning approach to teach learners and 12.9% strongly disagree. Also, 18.2% were indifferent as to whether they adopt a technology-based learning approach to teach learners. This result means that (46.2%) of teachers agree with the adoption of technology-based learning approaches. However, a significant proportion is neutral (18.2%) or disagrees (35.6%), indicating a need for further exploration of technology integration in teaching.

Furthermore, data in table 4.3 shows that a substantial majority of teachers either agree (56.1%) or strongly agree (28.8%) that they adopt a theme-based approach, indicating a high utilization of this approach in teaching. Again, the majority of teachers either agree (40.2%) or strongly agree (53.0%) with the adoption of activity-based learning approaches, suggesting a strong emphasis on this approach in their teaching.

Lastly data in 4.3 shows that a significant percentage of teachers are neutral (56.8%) about the adoption of differentiated instruction, while a smaller proportion agrees (27.3%) with its use. Few strongly agree (3.0%). This indicates a need to explore the

extent and effectiveness of differentiated instruction in early-grade classrooms further. In summary, table 4.3 reveals the varying degrees to which early-grade teachers in the Atwima-Kwawoma District adopt different pedagogical approaches in their teaching. Some approaches, such as play-based and activity-based learning, are widely embraced, while others, like technology-based learning and project-based learning, exhibit more diverse adoption patterns. These findings is line with existing literature such as (Nganga, Madrid Akpovo, Kambutu, Thapa & Mwangi, 2023; Agormedah, Ankomah, Frimpong, Quansah, Srem-Sai, Hagan Jr & Schack, 2022). These findings can guide educational policymakers and professionals in understanding the prevalent pedagogical practices and potentially inform targeted training and support for teachers to enhance their teaching methods.

Research Question 3

4.4 What resources are available to support early-grade teachers in the successful implementation of the standard-based curriculum in the Atwima-Kwawoma District?

This section sought to find out the available resources that support early-grade teachers in the successful implementation of the standard-based curriculum in the Atwima-Kwawoma District. To answer the question, items 17 – 23 under section 'C' of the questionnaire was used. Data in Table 4.4 present the results.

Table 4.4: Available to support early-grade teachers in the successful implementation of the standard-based curriculum

Statement	SD	D	N	A	SA	M/Std
	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	
I have an official standard-based	20	20	9	69	14	3.28/1.28
curriculum.	(15.2)	(15.2)	(6.8)	(52.3)	(10.6)	
I have books for all my learners.	60	52	10	10	0	1.77/0.88
	(45.5)	(39.4)	(7.6)	(7.6)	(0.0)	
The textbooks I have are enough	79	45	4	4	0	1.49/0.70
for all the learners.	(59.8)	(34.1)	(3.0)	(3.0)	(0.0)	
I have a teachers' resource pack.	28	32	19	34	19	2.88/1.39
	(21.2)	(24.2)	(14.4)	(25.8)	(14.4)	
I have adequate teaching and	18	31	35	46	2	2.87/1.09
learning resources in my class.	(13.6)	(23.5)	(26.5)	(34.8)	(1.5)	
I have been a beneficiary of	5	16	14	55	42	3.86/1.11
professional training.	(3.8)	(12.1)	(10.6)	(41.7)	(31.8)	
I have technology-based tools to	27	48	28	21	8	2.51/1.16
support teaching.	(20.5)	(36.4)	(21.2)	(15.9)	(6.1)	

Source: Field Survey, 2023

Table 4.4 provides information about the availability of resources to support early-grade teachers in the successful implementation of the Standard-Based Curriculum (SBC) in the Atwima-Kwawoma District. The responses are categorized into five levels, from Strongly Disagree (SD) to Strongly Agree (SA), with corresponding percentages. The Mean (M) and Standard Deviation (Std) are also included to provide a summary of the data dispersion. The result shows that majority the majority of teachers (52.3%) agree that they have an official standard-based curriculum, indicating that they are aware of and have access to the prescribed curriculum. However, a significant portion is neutral (6.8%) or disagrees (15.2%), suggesting that some teachers may not possess the official curriculum, which could impact their alignment with SBC guidelines.

Also, with a mean value of 1.77 and a standard deviation of 0.88, the data reveals a concerning situation where a large proportion of teachers (84.9% combined between

strongly disagree and disagree) do not have books for all their learners. This raises serious concerns about the availability of essential learning materials for students in early-grade classes. The high percentage of teachers who indicated a lack of sufficient books for all their learners is a cause for concern. It implies that a substantial number of early-grade students in the Atwima-Kwawoma District do not have access to individual textbooks or reading materials. This can hinder their ability to practice reading, develop literacy skills, and engage in self-directed learning, which are critical in the early stages of education. Research in the field of education consistently shows that the availability of textbooks and reading materials is positively correlated with students' academic performance and learning outcomes. Studies have demonstrated that access to textbooks can lead to improved reading comprehension, vocabulary development, and overall academic achievement (Abid, Aslam, Alghamdi & Kumar, 2023; Attakumah, 2020, Dahar & Faize, 2011). Therefore, the lack of books can potentially have a detrimental impact on the educational progress of early-grade students in the district.

In a similar vein, the majority of teachers (93.9% combined between strongly disagree and disagree) report that the textbooks they have are not sufficient for all their learners. This highlights a significant deficiency in the availability of instructional materials, which can hinder effective teaching and learning. The high percentage of teachers expressing a shortage of textbooks suggests that there is a severe inadequacy of learning resources in early-grade classrooms in the Atwima-Kwawoma District. This inadequacy extends beyond a lack of books for individual students and points to a shortage of textbooks in general, which can impact the entire teaching and learning process. Inadequate textbooks can hinder effective teaching and learning in several ways. Teachers may find it challenging to plan and deliver lessons that align with the

curriculum if they lack the necessary instructional materials. This situation can lead to fragmented teaching and hinder teachers from following a structured approach to curriculum delivery. This result is line with Attakumah, 2020 and Loeneto (2014)

Also, data in table 4.4 shows that while a substantial number of teachers (40.6% combined between strongly disagree and disagree) do not have a teachers' resource pack, a similar proportion (40.2% combined between agree and strongly agree) indicates its availability. This suggests a more balanced distribution of this resource compared to textbooks. This result is line with Arthur & Obeng (2023). The balanced distribution suggests that, in comparison to textbooks, teachers' resource packs may be more evenly distributed among the surveyed teachers in the Atwima-Kwawoma District. This could be due to targeted efforts by educational authorities or other stakeholders to provide these resource packs to educators. The fact that 40.2% of teachers agree that they have access to teachers' resource packs is a positive sign. These resource packs often contain supplementary teaching materials, instructional aids, and support materials that can enhance the teaching-learning process. Having access to such resources can help teachers be more effective in their instructional practices.

Again the result in table 4.4 revealed that a significant portion of teachers (37.1% combined between strongly disagree and disagree) feel that they lack adequate teaching and learning resources in their classrooms, while 36.3% (combined between A and SA) believe they have sufficient resources. The neutral responses (26.5%) indicate some uncertainty in this area. Data in table 4.4 further shows that the majority of teachers (73.5% combined between agree and strongly agree) have received professional training, which is crucial for their capacity development. However, a notable proportion (16.9% combined between strongly disagree and disagree) either

did not receive training or are uncertain about it. However, a significant number of teachers (56.9% combined between strongly disagree and disagree) report not having technology-based tools to support teaching. This could potentially limit their ability to incorporate technology into their teaching methods, which is increasingly important in modern education.

In summary, the results suggest that there are substantial challenges regarding the availability of essential resources for early-grade teachers in the Atwima-Kwawoma District. The shortage of books and teaching materials is particularly concerning and may hinder the effective implementation of the Standard-Based Curriculum. Additionally, while many teachers have received professional training, there is room for improvement in providing technology-based tools and resources to support teaching. These findings underscore the importance of addressing resource gaps to enhance the quality of early-grade education in the district.

Research Question 4

4.5 Challenges early-grade teachers face in implementing the standard-based curriculum in the Atwima-Kwawoma District.

This section sought to find out the Challenges early-grade teachers face in implementing the standard-based curriculum in the Atwima-Kwawoma District. To answer the question, items 24 - 32 under section 'D' of the questionnaire was used. Data in Table 4.5 present the results.

Table 4.5: Available to support early-grade teachers in the successful implementation of the standard-based curriculum

Statement	SD	D	N	A	SA	M/Std
	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	
I don't understand the standard-	35	53	32	7	5	2.84/3.91
based curriculum	(26.5)	(40.2)	(24.2)	(5.3)	(3.8)	
The school don't have enough	9	14	22	60	27	3.62/1.13
teaching and learning materials	(6.8)	(10.6)	(16.7)	(45.5)	(20.5)	
to help me implement the Early						
childhood curriculum						
My class size is too large for me	25	28	13	20	46	3.25/1.57
to go by the early childhood	(18.9)	(21.2)	(9.8)	(15.2)	(38.8)	
curriculum						
I don't receive any in-service	56	50	17	9	0	1.84/0.89
training on the early childhood	(42.4)	(37.9)	(12.9)	(6.8)	(0.0)	
curriculum						
There is too much workload with	11	60	19	23	19	2.84/1.23
the standard-based curriculum	(8.3)	(45.5)	(14.4)	(17.4)	(14.4)	
The pupils do not understand the	46	51	12	17	6	2.14/1.16
learning concepts when I go by	(34.8)	(38.6)	(9.1)	(12.9)	(4.5)	
the early childhood curriculum						
Parents don't involve themselves	12	7	26	46	41	3.73/1.21
in the implementation of the	(9.1)	(5.3)	(19.7)	(34.8)	(31.1)	
early childhood curriculum						
The facilities in the school don't	(79) 6	60	28	22	15	2.83/1.12
facilitate the implementation of	(5.3)	(45.5)	(21.2)	(16.7)	(11.4)	
the early childhood curriculum.						
The administration of the school	$^{\circ}27$ N FOR	57	19	18	11	2.46/1.20
doesn't support the	(20.5)	(43.2)	(14.4)	(13.6)	(8.3)	
implementation of the early						
childhood curriculum						
Courses Field Corner 2022						

Source: Field Survey, 2023

Table 4.5 provides insights into the challenges that early-grade teachers in the Atwima-Kwawoma District face when implementing the Standard-Based Curriculum (SBC). Like in the earlier tables, responses are categorized into five levels, from Strongly Disagree (SD) to Strongly Agree (SA), with Mean (M) and Standard Deviation (Std) included for summary and data dispersion.

The results indicate that a significant proportion of teachers express challenges in understanding the Standard-Based Curriculum, with 66.7% having a negative

perception (combining strongly disagree and disagree). The high standard deviation (3.91) suggests considerable variability in responses, highlighting the need for targeted training and support in understanding and implementing the curriculum. The high percentage of teachers who find it challenging to understand the SBC suggests that there is a notable gap in their comprehension of the curriculum framework. This gap may stem from a lack of familiarity with the SBC's principles, objectives, and guidelines. The presence of a substantial number of teachers who struggle to understand the curriculum underscores the importance of targeted training and professional development programs. Teachers require training that not only introduces them to the SBC but also provides them with the necessary skills and knowledge to effectively implement it in the classroom. This finding is line with that of Wah & Yu (2007) and Mmopi (2015).

In relation to the statement that the school doesn't have enough teaching and learning materials to help me implement the Early childhood curriculum, a majority of teachers (66% combining agree and strongly agree) report a lack of sufficient teaching and learning materials in their schools. The low standard deviation (1.13) suggests a relatively consistent experience among teachers, indicating a clear resource gap that needs to be addressed to support effective curriculum implementation. Also, large class size has been identified as one of the challenges that early-grade teachers in the Atwima-Kwawoma District face when implementing the Standard-Based Curriculum (SBC). The data in table 4.5 shows a substantial number of teachers (60% combining agree and srongly agree) feel that large class sizes hinder their ability to adhere to the early childhood curriculum. The high standard deviation (1.57) suggests varying degrees of class size challenges across teachers, but the overall trend is clear—large

class sizes pose a significant obstacle. This result is supported by Arthur & Obeng (2023).

Also, in relation to the statement I don't receive any in-service training on the early

childhood curriculum, a significant portion of teachers (80.3% combining strongly disagree and disagree) report not receiving in-service training on the early childhood curriculum. The low standard deviation (0.89) indicates a consistent lack of training among respondents, highlighting the need for professional development opportunities. With regards to there being too much workload with the standard-based curriculum, a substantial proportion of teachers (53.8% combining strongly disagree and disagree) perceive the SBC as being associated with a heavy workload. The moderate standard deviation (1.23) suggests that while many teachers feel burdened, there are varying degrees of workload concerns. The perception of a heavy workload is a significant concern as it can contribute to teacher stress and burnout. Teachers who feel overwhelmed by their workload may experience increased stress levels, which can negatively impact their job satisfaction, well-being, and overall effectiveness in the classroom. Teachers play a critical role in the successful implementation of any curriculum. When they perceive the curriculum as having a heavy workload, it may indicate that they feel there is not enough time to adequately cover the curriculum's content and meet the learning objectives. This time constraint can lead to rushed teaching practices, potentially compromising the depth and quality of instruction. The perception of a heavy workload can be a barrier to effective curriculum implementation. Teachers may struggle to balance the demands of covering the curriculum with other essential teaching responsibilities, such as lesson planning, assessment, and individualized support for students. This finding is line with Mochiah & Adibi (2023).

Also, data shows that a majority of teachers (73.4% combining strongly disagree and disagree) express concerns about students' comprehension of learning concepts under the early childhood curriculum. The standard deviation (1.16) indicates some variation in teachers' experiences but underscores a prevalent issue with student understanding.

On the statement that parents don't involve themselves in the implementation of the early childhood curriculum, many teachers (44.4% combining SD and D) report a lack of parental involvement in curriculum implementation, with a notable proportion (65.9% combining A and SA) expressing this concern. The moderate standard deviation (1.21) suggests varying degrees of parental involvement but overall indicates a challenge in this area. The statement that the facilities in the school don't facilitate the implementation of the early childhood curriculum, was disagreed on by 50.8% of the teachers. However, a substantial number of the teachers 49.2% agreed to the statement. The low standard deviation (1.12) suggests a relatively consistent experience among teachers, emphasizing the need for infrastructure improvements.

Again, data in table 4.5 shows that 63.7% of the teachers selected have disagreed that the administration of the school doesn't support the implementation of the early childhood curriculum. Only 21.9 agree that the administration of the school doesn't support the implementation of the early childhood curriculum. This result suggests that a significant majority of the surveyed teachers believe that their school's administration is supportive of the implementation of the early childhood curriculum. They perceive that the school leadership is actively involved or engaged in facilitating the effective execution of the curriculum in their classrooms. This level of agreement indicates that, from the teachers' perspective, the administration is playing a positive role in curriculum implementation, which can be seen as a favorable aspect of the

educational environment within the Atwima-Kwawoma District. It implies that the administration is likely providing the necessary support, resources, and guidance to help teachers adhere to the curriculum guidelines and achieve the desired educational outcomes.

In summary, the results from Table 4.5 reveal several significant challenges that early-grade teachers in the Atwima-Kwawoma District face when implementing the Standard-Based Curriculum. These challenges include a lack of understanding of the curriculum, inadequate teaching materials, large class sizes, insufficient training, heavy workloads, student comprehension issues, limited parental involvement, inadequacy of school facilities, and perceived lack of administrative support. The variations in standard deviations indicate that while some challenges are widespread, others may be more context-specific. Addressing these challenges is critical to improving the quality of education in the district and ensuring effective curriculum implementation.

CHAPTER FIVE

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Overview

This chapter presents a summary, major findings, and conclusion. Based on the conclusion drawn from the study some possible recommendations to the findings in the study were made.

5.2 Summary

The purpose of the study is to examine early-grade teachers' pedagogical knowledge in the implementation of the standard-based curriculum in Atwima-Kwawoma district. Specifically, the study sough to find out early-grade teachers' perception of the implementation of the standard-based curriculum in the Atwima-Kwawoma District, pedagogical approaches early-grade teachers adopt to teach learners at early childhood centres in the Atwima-Kwawoma District, available resources that support early-grade teachers in the successful implementation of the standard-based curriculum in the Atwima-Kwawoma District and challenges early-grade teachers face in implementing the standard-based curriculum in the Atwima-Kwawoma District.

The study was guided by Gautam's curriculum implementation theory (Gautam, 2015). This theory is advanced by Gautam (2015), who hypothesised that the degree to which a curriculum is implemented is a function of the extent to which conditions are present during the process of implementation. The study adopted quantitative research approach and descriptive survey research design. The study used a sample of

the 132 early-grade teachers in Atwima-Kwawoma District. A structured questionnaire was used to gather data on early-grade teachers' perception of the implementation of the standard-based curriculum in the Atwima-Kwawoma District, pedagogical approaches early-grade teachers adopt to teach learners at early childhood centres in the Atwima-Kwawoma District, available resources that support early-grade teachers in the successful implementation of the standard-based curriculum in the Atwima-Kwawoma District, challenges early-grade teachers face in implementing the standard-based curriculum in the Atwima-Kwawoma District. Descriptive statistics such as frequency tables, mean and standard deviations were used to analyze the data collected.

5.3 Summary of Major Findings

Based on the results presented in Tables 4.2 to 4.5, the study has uncovered several major findings related to early-grade teachers' perception of the implementation of the Standard-Based Curriculum (SBC) in the Atwima-Kwawoma District and the challenges they face in this process:

Objective 1: Pedagogical Understanding of the SBC Implementation

The study found that a significant percentage of teachers expressed challenges in understanding the SBC, with 66.7% having a negative perception. It was again found that many teachers reported receiving multiple training sessions on the implementation of the SBC, but the responses were more varied, indicating that not all teachers have had the same level of training and exposure. In summary, teachers had mixed perceptions regarding their understanding of curriculum change principles and the alignment of the SBC with learner needs. Understanding and Perception of the

SBC: Many teachers face challenges in understanding the SBC, and there is a need for improved clarity and training to enhance their comprehension.

Objective 2: Pedagogical Approaches

The study found that play-based pedagogy is widely adopted, with 53.0% of teachers strongly agreeing and 47.0% agreeing to its use. Also, it was reaveld that nn inquiry-based learning approach is also prevalent, with 49.2% of teachers agreeing and 26.5% strongly agreeing. Project-based learning and technology-based learning approaches exhibit more diverse adoption patterns. Again, theme-based and activity-based learning approaches are widely embraced by teachers. The study also revealed that differentiated instruction is less commonly adopted, with a majority of teachers remaining neutral about its use. In summary, the study reveals the varying degrees to which early-grade teachers in the Atwima-Kwawoma District adopt different pedagogical approaches in their teaching. Some approaches, such as play-based and activity-based learning, are widely embraced, while others, like technology-based learning and project-based learning, exhibit more diverse adoption patterns.

Objective 3: Available Resources

In line with the third objective, the study found that while the majority of teachers have access to an official standard-based curriculum (52.3%), a significant proportion does not. It was also revealed that a concerning number of teachers (84.9%) reported not having books for all their learners, indicating a serious lack of essential learning materials. Most teachers (93.9%) indicated that the textbooks they have are not sufficient for all their learners. It was found that there is a balanced distribution of teachers' resource packs compared to textbooks. Also, a significant portion of teachers (37.1%) feel that they lack adequate teaching and learning resources in their

classrooms. Again, the majority of teachers (73.5%) have received professional training, but there is room for improvement in providing technology-based tools and resources to support teaching. In summary, the results suggest that there are substantial challenges regarding the availability of essential resources for early-grade teachers in the Atwima-Kwawoma District. The shortage of books and teaching materials is particularly concerning and may hinder the effective implementation of the Standard-Based Curriculum. Additionally, while many teachers have received professional training, there is room for improvement in providing technology-based tools and resources to support teaching.

Objective 4: Challenges in Implementing the SBC

In line with the fourth objective, the study found that the most prominent challenge reported by teachers is the lack of understanding of the SBC, with 66.7% expressing negative perceptions. Also, a majority of teachers (66%) reported a lack of sufficient teaching and learning materials in their schools. Again, large class sizes were identified as a significant challenge, with 60% of teachers feeling hindered by them. Also, many teachers (80.3%) reported not receiving in-service training on the early childhood curriculum. It was further revealed that more than half of the teachers (53.8%) perceive the SBC as being associated with a heavy workload.

Concerns about students' comprehension of learning concepts were expressed by a majority of teachers (73.4%). Parental involvement in curriculum implementation was reported as lacking by a significant proportion of teachers (44.4%). Also, a majority of teachers (63.7%) believe that the administration of the school supports the implementation of the early childhood curriculum. In summary, the results reveal several significant challenges that early-grade teachers in the Atwima-Kwawoma

District face when implementing the Standard-Based Curriculum. These challenges include a lack of understanding of the curriculum, inadequate teaching materials, large class sizes, insufficient training, heavy workloads, student comprehension issues, limited parental involvement, and inadequacy of school facilities.

5.4 Conclusions

The research findings provide valuable insights into the state of early-grade education and the implementation of the Standard-Based Curriculum (SBC) in the Atwima-Kwawoma District. The study reveals significant resource constraints in early-grade education. Teachers reported a lack of essential teaching and learning materials, including textbooks, which can hinder effective curriculum implementation. This finding underscores the importance of addressing resource gaps to provide students with the tools they need for successful learning. Early-grade teachers in the district employ a variety of pedagogical approaches in their classrooms. While some approaches, such as play-based and inquiry-based learning, are widely adopted, others, like technology-based and project-based learning, exhibit more diverse usage patterns. This diversity highlights the need for tailored professional development programs that address teachers' varying needs and preferences.

Teachers face several challenges in implementing the SBC, including large class sizes, heavy workloads, and concerns about student comprehension. These challenges can impact the quality of instruction and necessitate targeted interventions and support mechanisms. A positive finding is that a majority of teachers believe that the school administration supports the implementation of the early childhood curriculum. This administrative support is crucial for fostering a conducive learning environment and addressing some of the challenges faced by teachers. While many teachers have received training on the SBC, there is room for improvement, especially regarding

technology integration and addressing teachers' understanding of curriculum change principles. Continuous professional development is essential to keep teachers updated and equipped with the necessary skills.

The research findings highlight both strengths and areas for improvement in early-grade education in the Atwima-Kwawoma District. They underscore the importance of addressing resource constraints, providing tailored professional development, and fostering a supportive administrative environment. Ultimately, improving early-grade education is vital for laying a strong foundation for students' future academic success and overall development in the district. The findings of this study can inform policymakers, educational authorities, and stakeholders in making informed decisions to enhance the quality of education for early-grade learners.

5.5 Policy recommendations

Based on the research findings and conclusions regarding early-grade teachers' pedagogical knowledge and the implementation of the Standard-Based Curriculum (SBC) in the Atwima-Kwawoma District, the following policy recommendations are proposed:

❖ The school authorities and Ministry of Education should increase funding for early-grade education to address resource constraints, particularly the availability of textbooks and teaching materials. Also, there should be develop a systematic plan for the procurement and distribution of textbooks to ensure that all early-grade learners have access to essential reading materials. The should authorities should also make conscious effort to invest in the development and provision of teachers' resource packs to support educators in their instructional practices.

- The Ministry of Education and Ghana Education Service should design and implement targeted professional development programs for early-grade teachers, focusing on improving their understanding of the SBC and curriculum change principles. The ministries should provide ongoing training opportunities that equip teachers with the necessary skills to effectively integrate technology into their teaching methods. The school heads should also foster collaboration among teachers to share best practices and innovative pedagogical approaches.
- ❖ The school authorities, the Ministry of Education and Ghana Education Service should explore strategies to reduce class sizes in early-grade classrooms, as large class sizes were identified as a significant challenge. The ministries should consider implementing policies that promote teacher-to-student ratios conducive to individualized attention and effective teaching.
- National Council for Curriculum and Assessment (NaCCA), Ministry of Education and Ghana Education Service should regularly review and adapt the SBC to align with the needs and comprehension levels of early-grade learners. There should be involvement of teachers and educational experts in the curriculum development and adaptation processes to ensure relevance and effectiveness.
- ❖ The school Authorities should develop strategies to increase parental involvement in early-grade education, recognizing its critical role in supporting learners' progress. The school should organize workshops and informational sessions to educate parents about the curriculum, their role in their child's education, and how to support learning at home.

❖ National Council for Curriculum and Assessment (NaCCA), Ministry of Education and Ghana Education Service should establish a robust system for monitoring and evaluating the implementation of the SBC, including teacher performance and student outcomes. Use data-driven insights to make informed decisions and adjustments to curriculum implementation strategies.

5.6 Suggestions for Further Study

Other researchers should consider conducting a larger-scale study involving multiple early-grade schools across various regions or districts to compare and contrast the early-grade teachers' pedagogical knowledge in the implementation of the standard-based curriculum in different contexts. Other researchers should undertake longitudinal research to track changes in early-grade teachers' pedagogical knowledge in the implementation of the standard-based curriculum over an extended period. Future studies should consider combining qualitative data with quantitative data to provide a more comprehensive understanding of the early-grade teachers' pedagogical knowledge in the implementation of the standard-based curriculum.

REFERENCES

- Abid, N., Aslam, S., Alghamdi, A. A., & Kumar, T. (2023). Relationships among students' reading habits, study skills, and academic achievement in English at the secondary level. *Frontiers in psychology*, *14*, 1020269.
- Aboagye, E., & Yawson, J. A. (2020). Teachers' Perception of the New Educational Curriculum in Ghana. *African Educational Research Journal*, 8(1), 6-12.
- Adams, D. (1993). *Defining educational quality*. University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh: IEQ Publication.
- Agormedah, E. K., Ankomah, F., Frimpong, J. B., Quansah, F., Srem-Sai, M., Hagan Jr, J. E., & Schack, T. (2022, September). Investigating teachers' experience and self-efficacy beliefs across gender in implementing the new standards-based curriculum in Ghana. In *Frontiers in Education* (Vol. 7, p. 932447). Frontiers Media SA.
- Akyeampong, K. W. A. M. E., Westbrook, J., & Pryor, J. (2020). The Speed School pedagogy and how it unlocks the creative and learning potential of disadvantaged children in Ethiopia. *NISSEM Global Briefs*.
- Alfonso, V. C., & DuPaul, G. J. (2020). Introduction: The importance of early childhood development, education, and intervention.
- Alhassan, A. R. K., & Abosi, C. O. (2017). Teachers' Pedagogical Competence in Adapting Curricula for Children with Learning Difficulties (LD) in Primary Schools in Ghana. *Journal of the American Academy of Special Education Professionals*, 41, 61.
- Alli, A., van der Merwe, A., & van Rooyen, A. (2020). The effectiveness of activity-based learning in early childhood education. International Journal of Early Childhood Education, 1-15.
- Altun, S. (2018). The Relationship between Pre-service Teachers' Perspectives and Experiences Regarding Play and Their Playfulness. Journal of Education and Training Studies, 6(2), 89-99.
- Alzahrani, I., & Woollard, J. (2013). The Role of the Constructivist Learning Theory and Collaborative Learning Environment on Wiki Classroom, and the Relationship between Them. *Online Submission*.
- Amedahe, F. K. (2007). *Challenges of education in Ghana in the 21st century*. Accra: Woeli Publishing Services.
- Amosun, M. D., & Kolawole, O. A. (2015). Pedagogical Knowledge and Skill Competences of Pre-School Teachers in Ibadan Metropolis, Oyo State, Nigeria. *Journal of the International Society for Teacher Education*, 19(2), 6-14.

- Amran, N., & Rosli, R. (2017). Teachers' Understanding in 21st Century Skills. *Prosiding Persidangan Antarabangsa Sains Sosial & Kemanusiaan*, 412.
- Ani-Boi E. (2009). Concerns of primary school teachers in the Cape Coast metropolis about the 2007 educational reform in Ghana. Unpublished Master's Thesis, University of Cape Coast.
- Anning, A., & Edwards, A. (2006). Promoting children's learning from birth to five: Developing the new early years professional. Open University Press.
- Apau, S. K. (2021). Teachers' Concerns about the Implementation of the Standard-Based Curriculum in Ghana: A Case Study of Effutu Municipality. *Educational Research and Reviews*, 16(5), 202-211.
- Arthur, S. E., & Obeng, P. K. (2023). Ghanaian teachers' perception on their readiness in implementing the standard-based curriculum. *West African Journal of Educational Sciences and Practice*, 2(1), 21-32.
- Aryal, S. (2020). Questionnaire method of data collection. Retrieved on August 12, 2021 from: https://microbenotes.com/questionnaire-method-of-data-collection
- Ashwin, P. (2022). Developing effective national policy instruments to promote teaching excellence: Evidence from the English case. *Policy Reviews in Higher Education*, 6(1), 27-45.
- Attakumah, D. (2020). Textbooks use and academic achievement of senior high school students in core subjects. *European Journal of Education Studies*.
- Bada, S. O., & Olusegun, S. (2015). Constructivism learning theory: A paradigm for teaching and learning. *Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 5(6), 66-70.
- Badu, S., Agbevivi, S. L. G., & Subbey, M. (2022). Aspects of kindergartners' reading and writing skills assessed by kindergarten teachers in the Atwima Kwanwoma District, Ghana.
- Beer, R. (2007). Bildungsstandards: Einstellungen von Lehrerinnern und Lehrern. Wien: Lit-Verlag.
- Bell, J. (2008). Doing your research project: A guide for first-time researchers in education and social science (4th ed.). Maidenhead: Open University Press.
- Bell, S. (2010). Project-based learning for the 21st century: Skills for the future. The Clearing House, 83(2), 39-43. https://doi.org/10.1080/00098650903505415
- Berman, P., & McLaughlin, M. W. (1975). Federal programs supporting educational Change. Santa Monica, CA: Rand Corporation.

- Berman, S. R. (1980). *On the semantics and logical form of wh-clauses*. University of Massachusetts Amherst.
- Bhushan, S., Kumar, A., Pandey, A. P., & Singh, S. (2021). Estimation of population mean in presence of missing data under simple random sampling. *Communications in Statistics-Simulation and computation*, 1-22.
- Blumberg, F. C., & Fisch, S. M. (2013). Screen media and child development. Pediatrics, 131(5), 983-98.
- Bolghari, M. S., & Hajimaghsoodi, A. (2017). Action research as a bottom-up approach to foster teacher involvement in language curriculum change. *Journal of Language Teaching and Research*, 8(2), 362.
- Bondioli, A. (2001). Playing and learning together: A study of toddler play groups. Open University Press.
- Brewer, E. W. (2009). Conducting survey research in education. In *Handbook of research on e-learning applications for career and technical education: Technologies for vocational training* (pp. 519-533). IGI Global.
- Bulger, S., Housner, L., & Lee, A. (2008). Curriculum alignment: A view from physical education teacher education. *Journal of Physical Education, Recreation, and Dance*, 79(7), 44–49.
- Bulmer, M. (2001). The ethics of social research. Researching social life, 3, 45-57.
- Burel, N., Tessier, D., & Langdon, J. (2021). Are teachers' subjective feelings linked with need-supportive and need-thwarting motivating styles? A cross-lagged pilot study in physical education. European journal of psychology of education, 36, 1221-1241.
- Buyong, N., Mohamed, S., Satari, N. M., Bakar, K. A., & Yunus, F. (2020). Kindergarten teacher's pedagogical knowledge and its relationship with teaching experience. *International Journal of Academic Research in Progressive Education & Development*, 9(2), 805-814.
- Carr, J., & Harris, D. (2001). Succeeding with standards: Linking curriculum, assessment, and action planning. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Cetin, N. I. (2016). Effects of a Teacher Professional Development Program on Science Teachers' Views about Using Computers in Teaching and Learning. *International journal of environmental and science education*, 11(15), 8026-8039.
- Chen, J. (2011). Role conflict and role ambiguity of mid-level academic managers in research universities in China. Journal of Higher Education Policy and Management, 33(2), 193-205.

- Chen, L. (2013). Implementing differentiated instruction in urban kindergarten classrooms: Challenges and strategies. Early Childhood Education Journal, 41(3), 183-189.
- Chepkuto, W. K., Sang, J., & Chumba, S. (2018). Influence of continuous professional development programmes on curriculum implementation in selected North Rift Counties public secondary schools, Kenya. *International Journal of Education and Research*, 6(6), 169-182.
- Cheung, A. C. K., & Wong, P.M. (2012). Factors affecting the implementation of curriculum reform in Hong Kong: key findings from a large- scale survey study. International Journal of Educational Management, 26(1):39-54.
- Chikoko, V. (2006). Negotiating roles and responsibilities in the context of decentralised school governance: A case study of one cluster of schools in Zimbabwe . (Unpublished doctoral thesis). University of KwaZulu-Natal.
- Cho, J. (1998). Rethinking curriculum implementation: Paradigms, models an teachers work. Papers presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, San Diego, CA., April 13-17.
- Christie,P. Butler ,D.& Potterton, M.(2007). School that work. Report to the Minister of Education. Available at http://www.radio.uct.ac.za/sites/default/files/image_tool/image/104/schools_that_work.pdf.
- Chuang, S. (2021). The applications of constructivist learning theory and social learning theory on adult continuous development. *Performance Improvement*, 60(3), 6-14.
- Clandinin, D. J., & Connelly, F. M. (1992). Teacher as curriculum maker. In P. W. Jackson (ed.), *Handbook of Research on Curriculum*, pp. 363-401. New York: Macmillan.
- Clandinin, D. J., & Connelly, F. M. (1998). Stories to live by: narrative understandings of school reform. *Curriculum Inquiry*, 28 (2), 149-164.
- Claxton, G. (2013). What's the point of school? Rediscovering the heart of education. Simon and Schuster.
- Clements, D. H., & Sarama, J. (2008). Experimental evaluation of the effects of a research-based preschool mathematics curriculum. *American educational research journal*, 45(2), 443-494.
- Cobbe, S. (1990). *Education indicators for policy purpose in Indonesia*. Jakarta: Ministry of Education and Culture.
- Cohen, C., Manion, L., & Morrison, K. (2007). Research methods in education (6th ed.). London: Routledge Falmer.

- Cohen, D. K., & Ball, D. L. (1999). Instruction, capacity, and improvement.
- Craddock, D., O'Halloran, C., Mcpherson, K., Hean, S., & Hammick, M. (2013). A top-down approach impedes the use of theory? Interprofessional educational leaders' approaches to curriculum development and the use of learning theory. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 27(1), 65-72.
- Craig, C. J. (2006). Why is dissemination so difficult? The nature of teacher knowledge and the spread of curriculum reform. *American Educational Research Journal*, 43 (2), 257-293.
- Crandall, D. (1982). People, policies and practice: Examining the chain of school improvement (Vols. 1-10). Andover, M. A.: The Network.
- Creswell, J. (2009). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approach (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Creswell, J. W. (2003). Research design: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed approaches (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Cunningham, R. (2018). Busy going nowhere: Curriculum reform in Eastern and Southern Africa.
- Dahar, M. A., & Faize, F. A. (2011). Effect of the availability and the use of instructional material on academic performance of students in Punjab (Pakistan). *Middle Eastern Finance and Economics*, 11, 15-26.
- Datnow, A. & Castellano, M. (2000). Teachers' Responses to Success for All: How Beliefs, Experiences, and Adaptations Shape Implementation. American Educational Research Journal, 37(3), 775–799. DOI 10.2307/1163489
- Day ,C.(2002). School reform and transition in teacher professionalism and identity. International Journal of Educational Research, 37:677-692.
- Day, C., & Smethen, L. (2009). The effects of reform: Have teachers really lost their sense of professionalism? Journal of Educational Change, 10(2-3):141-157.
- Dearing, J. W., & Cox, J. G. (2018). Diffusion of innovations theory, principles, and practice. *Health affairs*, 37(2), 183-190.
- Desimone, L. M., Porter, A. C., Garet, M. S., Yoon, K. S., & Birman, B. F. (2012). Effects of professional development on teachers' instruction: Results from a three-year longitudinal study. Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis, 34(2), 169-199.
- Dewyer, J., & Schachter, R. E. (2019). Going beyond defining: Preschool educators' use of knowledge in their pedagogical reasoning about vocabulary instruction. *Dyslexia*, 26(2), 173-199.

- Dilkes, J., Cunningham, C. & Gray, J. (2014). The New Australian Curriculum, Teachers and Change Fatigue. Australian Journal of Teacher Education, 39(11), 45–64. DOI 10.14221/ajte.2014v39n11.4
- Dilkes, J., Cunningham, C. & Gray, J. (2014). The New Australian Curriculum, Teachers and Change Fatigue. Australian Journal of Teacher Education, 39(11), 45–64. DOI 10.14221/ajte.2014v39n11.4
- Donald, D, Lazuras, S.& Lolwana, P. (2002). Educational psychology in social context. Cape Town: Oxford University Press.
- Doyle, C. S. (1992). Outcome Measures for Information Literacy within the National Education Goals of 1990. Final Report to National Forum on Information Literacy. Summary of Findings.
- Erbas, A.K. & Ulubay, M. (2008). Implementation of the New Turkish Primary Education Mathematics Curriculum in the Sixth Grade: A Survey of Teachers' Views. The New Educational Review, 16(3–4), 51–76
- Erdem, E., & Demir, M. K. (2014). The effect of differentiated instruction on preschoolers' language development. Early Childhood Education Journal, 42(6), 393-400.
- Eunitah, V. (2017). Teaching Shona Culture in Secondary Schools: A Case for Masvingo Urban Schools in Zimbabwe. *Journal of Pan African Studies*, 10(5), 20-30.
- Everard, K. B., Morris, G., & Wilson, I. (2004). Effective school management. Sage.
- Figueiredo, M. P., Gomes, H., & Rodrigues, C. (2018). Mathematical pedagogical content knowledge in Early Childhood Education: tales from the 'great unknown' in teacher education in Portugal. *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 26(4), 535-546.
- Flores, M.A. (2005). Teacher's views on recent curriculum changes: Tensions and challenges. The Curriculum Journal, 16(3):401-413.
- Frost, J. L., Wortham, S. C., & Reifel, S. (2005). Play and child development (3rd ed.). Pearson.
- Fuchs, L.& Fuchs, D.(2002). Mathematics problem-solving profiles of students with Mathematics disabilities with and Comorbid reading disabilities. Journal of Learning Disabilities, 35(6): 32-45.
- Fullan, M. G. (2001b). *The new meaning of educational change* (3rd ed.). New York: Teachers College Press.
- Fullan, M. (2007). The new meaning of educational change. (4th ed.) .New York: Teacher's College Press.

- Fullan, M. G., & Pomfret, A. (1977). Research on curriculum and instruction implementation. *Review of Educational Research* 47 (2), 335-397.
- Fullan, M., & Langworthy, M. (2013). Towards a new end: New pedagogies for deep learning.
- Gander, M. J. (2013). Play-based learning in the primary school: An evaluation of the pedagogy and its implementation in two primary schools in the United Kingdom. European Journal of Education, 48(3), 371-387.
- Gay, L. R. (1992). Education Research Competencies for Analysis and Application. London: Charles E. Milton Keynes Philadelphia Company.
- Germeten, S. (2011). The New National Curriculum in Norway: A Change in the Role of the Principals? Australian Journal of Education, 55(1), 14–23. DOI 10.1177/000494411105500103
- Govender, S. (2018). South African teacher's perspectives on support received in implementing curriculum changes. South African Journal of Education, 38(2):1-12.
- Gross, N., Giaquinta, J. B., & Bernstein, M. (1971). Implementing organizational innovations: A sociological analysis of planned change. New York: Basic Books.
- Guskey, T .R.(1968).Staff development and the process of teacher change. Educational Research, 15(5):5-12.
- Halbert, J., & MacPhail, A.(2010). Curriculum dissemination & implementation in Treland: principla and teacher insight: Irish Educational Studies, 29(1):25-40.
- Hall, G. E., & Hord, S. M. (1987). *Change in schools: Facilitating the process*. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.
- Haron, M. Z., Zalli, M. M. M., Othman, M. K., & Awang, M. I. (2021). Examining the Teachers' Pedagogical Knowledge and Learning Facilities towards Teaching Quality. *International Journal of Evaluation and Research in Education*, 10(1), 1-7.
- Hattie, J. (2012). Visible learning for teachers: Maximizing impact on learning. Routledge.
- Hirsh-Pasek, K., Golinkoff, R. M., & Roseberry, S. (2015). Becoming brilliant: What science tells us about raising successful children. American Psychological Association.
- Holloway, B. (2018). Play: A secondary concern? set: Research Information for Teachers, 3, 36-43. https://doi.org/10.18296/set.0116

- Hongbiao, Y. (2013). Implementing the national curriculum reform in China: A Review of The Decade, 8(3):331-359
- Jacinta, R. M., & Rotich, K. S. (2015). Impact of early childhood education on pupils' learning in primary schools in Kenya. *Global Journal of Educational Studies*, *I*(1), 52-61.
- Janík, T., Janko, T., Knecht, P., Kubiatko, M., Najvar, M., Pavlas, T., Slavík, J., Solnic ka, D., Vlc ková, K. (2010). Kurikulární reforma na gymnáziích: výsledky dotazníkového šetr ení. Praha: Výzkumný ústav pedagogický v Praze.
- Janík, T., Knecht, P., Najvar, P., Píšová, M., & Slavík, J. (2011). Curricular Reform in Grammar Schools: Research Findings and Recommendations. *Pedagogical Orientation*, 21(4), 375-415.
- Johnson, S., Monk, M., & Swain, J. (2000). Constraints on development and change to science teacher's practices in Egyptian classroom. Journal of Education for Teaching, 26(1):9-24.
- Johnson, J. E., Christie, J. F., & Yawkey, T. D. (1999). Play, development, and early education. Pearson.
- Johnstone, C.J.,& Chapman,D.W.(2009). Contributions and constraints to the implementation of inclusive education in Lesotho. International Journal of Disability, Development and Education (56):131-148.http//Doi:10.1080/103491209028-68582.
- Karakhanyan, S., Van Veen, K. & Bergen, T.C.M. (2011). Teachers' Voices in the Context of Higher Education Reforms in Armenia. European Journal of Education, 46(4), 508–523. DOI 10.1111/j.1465-3435.2011.01497.x
- Katz, L. G. (2016). Technology and young children: Bridging the communication-generation gap. Journal of Early Childhood Research, 14(2), 109-112.
- Kelchtermans, G. (2009). Who I am in how I teach is the message: self-understanding, vulnerability and reflection. *Teachers and Teaching:* theory and practice, 15(2), 257-272.
- Kiamba, E. W., & Mutua, F. (2017). A critical review of the effect of teacher preparedness on students' academic achievement: A research agenda.
- Kırkgöz, Y. (2008). A case study of teachers implementation of curriculum innovation in English language teaching in Turkish primary education, Teaching and Teacher Education, 24(7):1859-1875
- Knaack, S., Kreuz, A., & Zawlocki, E. (2012). Using Standards-Based Grading to Address Students' Strengths and Weaknesses. *Online Submission*.

- Knaack, S., Kreuz, A., & Zawlocki, E. (2012). Using Standards-Based Grading to Address Students' Strengths and Weaknesses. *Online Submission*.
- Koehler, M. J., Mishra, P., Akcaoglu, M., & Rosenberg, J. M. (2013). The technological pedagogical content knowledge framework for teachers and teacher educators. *ICT integrated teacher education: A resource book*, 2-7.
- Kolb, D. A. (1984). Experiential learning: Experience as the source of learning and development. Prentice-Hall.
- Kothari, S., & Chand-Mall, R. (2014). Assessment of quality of life in individuals with dysphagia: a questionnaire in Marathi. *Journal of the All India Institute of Speech & Hearing*, 33.
- Kpedator, E. Y. (2019). Introduction of a new standard-based curriculum: Are we ready.
- Krajcik, J. S., McNeill, K. L., & Reiser, B. J. (2014). Learning goals driven design model: Developing curriculum materials that align with national standards and incorporate project-based pedagogy. Science Education, 98(1), 1-40.
- Lee, J.C. (2000). Teacher Receptivity to Curriculum Change in the Implementation Stage: The Case of Environmental Education in Hong Kong. Journal of Curriculum Studies, 32(1), 95–115. DOI 10.1080/002202700182871
- Leech, N. L., Barrett, K. C., & Morgan, G. A. (2015). Factorial ANOVA and ANCOVA (Chapter 9). IBM SPSS for Intermediate Statistics: Use and Interpretation, 188-212.
- Leithwood, K. A. (1991). Implementation Evaluation. In A. Lewy (Ed.). *The International Encyclopaedia of Curriculum*, 444-448.
- Leithwood, K., & Montgomery, D. (1982). A framework for planned educational change: Application to the assessment of program implementation. *Educational evaluation and policy analysis*, 4(2), 157-167
- Lewis, M. (1988). Continuation of a curriculum innovation.: Salient and alterable variables. *Journal of Curriculum Supervision*, 4 (1), 52-64.
- Lieberman, A., & Pointer ,D.H.(2008). Teacher learning: The key to educational reform. Journal of Teacher Education,59:226-234.
- Lin, Y., Liu, M., & Lin, S. (2020). Effects of activity-based learning on preschool children's self-regulation, executive function, and cognitive development. Early Child Development and Care, 190(6), 889-905.

- Loeneto, B. A. (2014). Evaluation of the implementation of school-based curriculum in improving the learning quality of public junior high school no. 2 in banyuasin iii of banyuasin district of south sumatra province. The Journal of English Literacy Education: The Teaching and Learning of English as a Foreign Language, 1(1), 1-7.
- Lombard, K. Meyer, L. Warnich, P.& Wolhuter, C. (2010). Outcome-Based Assessment for South African teachers. Pretoria. Van Schaik.
- Lopez, S. J. (2013). *Making hope happen: Create the future you want for yourself and others*. Simon and Schuster.
- Loucks, S. (1983). *Defining fidelity: A cross-study analysis*. Paper presented at the American Education Research Association Annual Meeting, Montreal. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 249 659).
- Loucks, S., & Pratt, H. (1979). A concern-based approach to curriculum change. *Educational Leadership, Dec.*, 212-215.
- Lovejoy, T. I., Demireva, P. D., Grayson, J. L., & McNamara, J. R. (2009). Advancing the practice of online psychotherapy: An application of Rogers' diffusion of innovations theory. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training*, 46(1), 112.
- Loveless, T., & Ellis, J. (2019). Teacher perspectives on implementing a new science curriculum: Implications for science teacher educators. Journal of Science Teacher Education, 30(2), 130-148.
- Ludlow, S. (2010). The Place of Play in Twenty-first Century Classrooms: Evidence and Approaches. *TEACH Journal of Christian Education*, 4(2), 5.
- Ma, L., Lee, C. S., & Goh, D. H. L. (2014). Understanding news sharing in social media: An explanation from the diffusion of innovations theory. *Online information review*, 38(5), 598-615.
- MacPhail ,A.(2007). Teacher's views on the construction management and delivery of an externally prescribed physical education curriculum: Higher Grade Physical Education, Journal of Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy, 12, (1):43-60.
- Mahama, I. (2023). Curriculum Implementation with a Plan: An Exploratory Analysis of Pre-service Teachers' Application of Gagne's Nine Events of Instruction.
- Mahamud, W. (2021). Towards assessment of pedagogical knowledge of early childhood educators: A case study of Sissala East Municipal, Ghana. *Journal of Education, Curriculum and Teaching Studies*, 2(1), 4-20.
- Male, R., & Resad, N. A. (2016). Educational activities among preschool teachers in Gombak district. *National Journal of Early Childhood Education*, *5*(1), 19-29.

- Maphalala, M.C. (2006). Educator experience in implementing the Revise National Curriculum Statement In GET band. Thesis-PhD Natal. University of Zululand.
- Marsh, C. J., & Willis, G. (2007). Curriculum: Alternative approaches, ongoing issues (4th ed.). New Jersey: Merril Prentice Hall.
- Marsh, J. A., Pane, J. F., & Hamilton, L. S. (2017). Implementing new instructional materials: A case study of challenges and supports. Journal of Curriculum Studies, 49(3), 365-385.
- Marton, A. (2006). The cultural politics of curricular reform in China: A case study of geographical education in Shanghai, Journal of Contemporary China, 15:233-254.
- Masnan, A. H., Sharif, M. H. M., Dzainuddin, M., Taha, H., Ibrahim, M. M., Yahaya, A., ... & Wahab11, N. S. A. A. (2021). The Teachers'knowledge About New Preschool Curriculum. *International Journal of Education, Psychology, and Counselling (IJEPC)*, 6(38), 01-12.
- Matshidiso ,N.N(2007).Educators perception of outcome-based education Assessment. Dissertation-M.ed. Potchefstroom. North West University.
- McLaughlin, D. (2005). *The dialectic of Austrian catholic education research paper*. Brisbane: Austrialian Catholic University.
- McLeod, J., & O'Connor, K. (2020). Ethics, archives and data sharing in qualitative research. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, 53(5), 523-535.
- McVey, M. A., Crimmins, G., Bartley, M., & Lash, A. (2020). Leveraging technology to improve science instruction and student learning. Journal of Science Education and Technology, 29(1), 1-13.
- Mestry, R.& Singh, P. (2007). Continuing professional development for principals: A South African Journal of Education, 27(3):477-490.
- Ministry of Education [MoE] (2019). National pre-tertiary education curriculum framework for developing subject curricula. Retrieved on 3rd April 2020 from https://nacca.gov.gh/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/National-Pre-tertiary-Education-Curriculum-Framework-final.pdf
- Mitchell, C Figueiredo .K., De Lange, N., Balfour ,R.& Islam ,F. (2011). Partnership for educational
- Mmopi, M. (2015). Exploring experience of Teachers in the implementation of standard-based grading in Botswana Junior Secondary Schools (JSS): a case of Moeti JSS in Maun.

- Mochiah, J. N. A., & Adibi, M. G. D. (2023). The New Standard Based Curriculum in Ghana; Prospects, Challenges and the Way Forward. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 7(4), 67-79.
- Mochiah, J. N. A., & Adibi, M. G. D. (2023). The New Standard Based Curriculum in Ghana; Prospects, Challenges and the Way Forward. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 7(4), 67-79.
- Mohajan, H. K. (2020). Quantitative research: A successful investigation in natural and social sciences. *Journal of Economic Development, Environment and People*, 9(4), 50-79.
- Moloney, M. (2010). Professional identity in early childhood care and education: perspectives of pre-school and infant teachers. *Irish educational studies*, 29(2), 167-187.
- Moulaert, F., MacCallum, D., Mehmood, A., & Hamdouch, A. (2013). General introduction: the return of social innovation as a scientific concept and a social practice. *The international handbook on social innovation: Collective action, social learning and transdisciplinary research*, *1*, 1-6.
- Mukeredzi, T. G. (2016). Teacher professional development outside the lecture room: Voices of professionally unqualified practicing teachers in rural Zimbabwe secondary schools. *Global Education Review*, 3(4), 84-106.
- Muñoz, M. A., Prather, J. R., & Stronge, J. H. (2011). Exploring Teacher Effectiveness Using Hierarchical Linear Models: Student-and Classroom-Level Predictors and Cross-Year Stability in Elementary School Reading. *Planning and Changing*, 42, 241-273.
- Nevenglosky, E. A. (2018). *Barriers to effective curriculum implementation* (Doctoral dissertation, Walden University).
- Nganga, L. (2020). Analyzing children's literature for hidden bias helps preservice teachers gain pedagogical practices in critical multicultural education. *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, 34(1), 93-107.
- Nganga, L., Madrid Akpovo, S., Kambutu, J., Thapa, S., & Mwangi, A. M. (2023). Educational policies in early childhood education programs in Kenya and Nepal: Challenging unjust binary mindset around curricula practices. *Policy Futures in Education*, 14782103231176587.
- Ngibe, N.C.P. (2013). Curriculum Enhancement of teacher's professionalism towards 21st century development in South Africa. International Journal of Development Research, 8, (2):4578-4583.
- Nishino ,T.(2008). Japanese Secondary School Teacher's Beliefs and Practices Regarding Communicative Language Teaching, An Exploratory Survey. JALT Journal,30(1).

- Oakley, G. (2020). Developing pre-service teachers' technological, pedagogical and content knowledge through the creation of digital storybooks for use in early years classrooms. *Technology, Pedagogy and Education*, 29(2), 163-175.
- Odom, S. L., Collet-Klingenberg, L., Rogers, L. C., & Hatton, H. (2010). Evidence-based practices in interventions for children and youth with autism spectrum disorders. Preventing School Failure: Alternative Education for Children and Youth, 54(4), 275-282.
- Okumbe ,J.A.(2007). Educational Management. Theory & Practice; Nairobi: Nairobi University Press.
- Oloruntegbe ,K.O.(2011). Teacher's involvement commitment and innovativeness in curriculum development and implementation, Journal of Emerging Trends in Educational Research and Policy Studies ,2(6):443-449.,443-449.
- Omotayo, T. O., & Adeyemo, O. F. (2020). Availability of teaching and learning materials as a predictor of curriculum implementation in primary schools in Oyo State, Nigeria. International Journal of Research and Innovation in Social Science (IJRISS), 4(11), 10-16.
- Onwu, G.O.M., & Mogari, D.L. (2004). Professional development for Outcome-based education curriculum implementation: The case of UNIVEMALASHI, South Africa, Journal of Education for Teaching, 30(2):161-177.
- Pandey, N. (2018). Barriers to effective curriculum implementation. *TechnoLearn: An International Journal of Educational Technology*, 8(2), 65-69.
- Park, M.& Sung, Y-K. (2013). Teacher's perceptions of the recent curriculum reforms and their implementation: What can we learn from the case of Korean elementary teacher? Asia Pacific Journal of Education, 33(1):15-33.
- Park, M., & Sung, Y. K. (2013). Teachers' perceptions of the recent curriculum reforms and their implementation: What can we learn from the case of Korean elementary teachers?. *Asia Pacific Journal of Education*, 33(1), 15-33.
- Penny,A., Ward ,M., Read ,T.,& Bines,H.(2008). Education Sector reform: The Ugandan experience, International Journal of Educational Developmen,28:268-285
- Penuel, W. R., Fishman, B. J., Yamaguchi, R., & Gallagher, L. P. (2007). What makes professional development effective? Strategies that foster curriculum implementation. *American educational research journal*, 44(4), 921-958.
- Penuel, W.R., Gallagher ,L.P.& Moorthy, S. (2011). Preparing teacher to design sequences of instruction in earth system science: A comparison of three professional development programs, American Educational Research Journal ,48(4):996-1025

- Petersen, S. C., Cruz, L. M., & Amundson, R. (2002). The standards' impact on physical education in New York State. *Journal of Physical Education, Recreation & Dance*, 73(4), 15-18.
- Pinar, W. F. (2000). Understanding curriculum: An introduction to the study of historical & contemporary curriculum discourse. New York, NY: Peter Lang.
- Posner, G. (1994). Analyzing Curriculum. New York: McGraw-Hill, Inc.
- Prapaisit de Segovia, L., & Hardison, D. M. (2009). Implementing education reform: EFL teachers' perspectives. *ELT journal*, 63(2), 154-162.
- Putnam, R. T., & Borko, H. (1997). Teacher learning: Implications of new views of cognition. In *International handbook of teachers and teaching* (pp. 1223-1296). Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands.
- Ramroop, R. S. (2004). A Qualitative Study of the Impact of Organisational Development Interventions on the Implementation of Oucomes Based Education (Doctoral dissertation, University of South Africa).
- Reddy, V. (2003). Initial training for permanent unqualified teachers through distance education programs. South African College of education as a case study.
- Reichman, R. G., & Artzi, S. (2012). "The Road Not Taken"--Israeli Teachers' Reactions to Top-Down Educational Reform. *Qualitative Report*, 17, 64.
- Rekkor, S., Umarik, M. & Loogma, K. (2013). Adoption of National Curricula by Vocational Teachers in Estonia. Journal of Vocational Education and Training, 65(4), 489–506. DOI 10.1080/13636820.2013.841277
- Robinson, L., & Knezek, G. (2014). Differentiated instruction and educational technology integration in K-12 classrooms: A systematic review of research literature from 2004 to 2014. Journal of Educational Computing Research, 51(3), 239-260.
- Roggenbrodt, G. (2008). Acceptance of complex school development processes among school stakeholders, demonstrated by the example of the ProReKo school experiment. Theoretical foundations and empirical findings. *Education*, 61(3), 321-352.
- Rokicki, T., Perkowska, A., Klepacki, B., Szczepaniuk, H., Szczepaniuk, E. K., Bereziński, S., & Ziółkowska, P. (2020). The importance of higher education in the EU countries in achieving the objectives of the circular economy in the energy sector. *Energies*, 13(17), 4407.
- Rusdiana, A., & Nasihudin, N. (2018). The implementation of national standard-based curriculum in Private Islamic Higher Education: Leadership impact. *Jurnal Pendidikan Islam*, 4(1), 87-98.

- Rusdin, N. M., & Ali, S. R. (2018). Implementation of 21st century learning and the challenges. In *Proceedings of the 3rd UUM International Qualitative Research Conference (QRC)* (pp. 66-73).
- Sadras, V. O. (2005). A quantitative top-down view of interactions between stresses: theory and analysis of nitrogen—water co-limitation in Mediterranean agroecosystems. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, 56(11), 1151-1157.
- Salehudin, M. (2019). The influence of creative learning assisted by Instagram to improve middle school students' learning outcomes of graphic design subject. *Journal for the Education of Gifted Young Scientists*, 7(4), 849-865.
- Sampson, L. K., Kumi, J. N., & Maxwell, S. K. (2022). Redesigning the College of Education Curriculum to meet the Learner Centered Approach Needs of the Pre-service teacher for Effective Implementation of the Standard Based Curriculum in Ghana. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 6(6), 1-15.
- Samuelsson, I. P., & Johansson, E. E. (2006). Play and learning—Opponents or allies? A theoretical and empirical study of the interplay between play and learning. International Journal of Early Years Education, 14(3), 241-258.
- Sarantakos, S. (2005) Social Research. 3rd Edition, Palgrave Mac-Millan, New York.
- Sayed, Y.& McDonald, Z.(2017). Motivation to become a Foundation Phase teacher in South Africa, South African Journal of Childhood Education, 7 (1):9 DOI:10.4102/sajce.v7i1.548
- Schweinhart, L. J. & Weikart, D. P. (2016). Use of early childhood longitudinal studies by policy makers. *International Journal of Child Care and Education Policy*, 10, 1-10.
- Sedibe, M. (2011). Inequality of access to resources in previously disadvantaged South African high schools. *Journal of Social Sciences*, 28(2), 129-135.
- Selesho,M.J. (2012).Academic Staff Retention as a Human Resource factor: University Perspective, International Business of Economics Research Journal, 13(2):295-304.
- Setiawan, B. (2020). The anxiety of educational reform and innovation: Bridging of top-down and bottom-up strategies within practice educational reform of curriculum in Indonesia. *Studies in Philosophy of Science and Education*, *1*(2), 87-96.
- Shawer, S. F. (2003). Bringing curriculum-in-action to the classroom: a study of teachers' curriculum development approaches and their implications for student and teacher development. Unpublished Ph.D. Dissertation, Faculty of Education, The University of Manchester.

- Siraj-Blatchford, I., Muttock, S., Sylva, K., Gilden, R., & Bell, D. (2002). Researching effective pedagogy in the early years (Vol. 356). London: Department for Education and Skills.
- Smit, B. (2005). Teachers, Local Knowledge, and Policy Implementation: A Qualitative Policy-practice Inquiry. Education and Urban Society, 37(3), 292–306. DOI 10.1177/0013124505275426
- Snyder, J., Bolin, F., & Zumwalt, K. (1992). Snyder, Jon, Frances Bolin, and Karen Zumwalt," Curriculum Implementation," pp. 402-435 in Philip W. Jackson, ed., Handbook of Research on Curriculum. New York: Macmillan, 1992.
- Stella, C. S. C., Forlin, C., & Lan, A. M. (2007). The influence of an inclusive education course on attitude change of pre-service secondary teachers in Hong Kong. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher Education*, 35(2), 161-179.
- Stirrup, M. J., Foley, L., Tan, J. P. L., & Choo, S. S. (2017). Future-proofing play in early childhood education: A case for policy reform. Australasian Journal of Early Childhood, 42(2), 102-111.
- Straková, J. (2007). Curricular reform from the point of view of the Kalibro survey. *Pedagogy*, 57(1), 21-36.
- Stufflebeam, D. J., & Shinkfield, A. J. (2007). Evaluation theory, models, & applications. San Francisco, CA: Wiley.
- Stufflebeam, D. L. (1971). *Educational evaluation and decision making*. Hasca Illinois F. E. Peacock.
- Suggate, S. P. (2016). A meta-analysis of the long-term effects of computer-based learning on literacy, mathematics, and other academic outcomes. Journal of Educational Psychology, 108(2), 329-341.
- Suhendi, A. (2018). Constructivist learning theory: The contribution to foreign language learning and teaching. *KnE Social Sciences*, 87-95.
- Tafai MG (2017). Teachers concerns about the implementation of the new curriculum in Lesotho. Unpublished Master's Dissertation, University of the Free State. Retrieved from https://scholar.ufs.ac.za/bitstream/handle/11660/9758/TafaiMG.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.
- Thomas, D., & Brown, J. S. (2012). Cultivating the imagination in a world of constant change. Forum Futures, Forum for the Future of Higher Education. https://www.johnseelybrown.com/Cultivating%20the%20Imagination.pdf
- Thousand, J. S., Villa, R. A., & Nevin, A. I. (2007). Differentiating instruction: Collaborative planning and teaching for universally designed learning. Corwin Press.

- Toh, T. L. (2019). The role of manipulatives and visual aids in the implementation of the primary school mathematics curriculum in Singapore. Asia Pacific Journal of Education, 39(3), 387-399.
- Tomlinson, C. A. (2014). The differentiated classroom: Responding to the needs of all learners (2nd ed.). ASCD.
- Tomlinson, C. A., & Imbeau, M. B. (2010). Leading and managing a differentiated classroom. ASCD.
- Troudi, S., & Alwan, F. (2010). Teachers' feelings during curriculum change in the United Arab Emirates: opening Pandora's box. *Teacher Development*, 14(1), 107-121.
- Troudi,S.,& Alwan, F.(2010). Teacher's feeling during curriculum change in the United Arab Emirates: Opening Pandora's box, Teacher Development ,14(1):107-121.
- Tu°mová, A. (2012). Effects of Age and Length of Professional Experience On Teachers' Attitudes to Curriculum Reform. Central European Journal of Public Policy, 6(2), 84–99.
- Tussa'diah, H., & Nurfadillah, K. (2018). The implementation of theme based teaching to improve students' achievement in narrative text. *KnE Social Sciences*, 352-360.
- UNESCO (2006).Education for all, Global Monitoring Report, understanding of literacy .http://unesdoc.unesco.org/image/0014/001416/141639
- UNESCO. (1990). Education for all. Bulletin of the UNESCO principal office for Asia and the Pacific.
- Vähäsantanen, K. (2015). Professional agency in the stream of change: Understanding educational change and teachers' professional identities. *Teaching and teacher education*, 47, 1-12.
- Van de Merwe, H.M. (2002).Management of the Curriculum .Study Guide .Department of Postgraduate Education. Johannesburg: Vista University.
- Wah, L., & Yu, W. (2007). Challenges and Strategies to Educational Change-Introducing School-Based Curriculum. *New Horizons in Education*, 55(2), 78-96.
- Waite-Stupiansky, S. (2022). Jean Piaget's constructivist theory of learning. In *Theories of early childhood education* (pp. 3-18). Routledge.
- Wallen, N. E., & Fraenkel, J. R. (2013). *Educational research: A guide to the process*. Routledge.

- Wambi, M., Buluma, A., & Ludigo, H. (2023). Administrators' Perception of Teacher-educators' Exhibition of Pedagogical Skills and Implementation of Early Childhood Education Curriculum in Primary Teachers' Colleges in Eastern Uganda. *East African Journal of Education Studies*, 6(1), 389-406.
- Waweru, J. W. (2018). Influence of teacher preparedness on implementation of competency based curriculum in public primary schools in Nyandarua north sub-county, Kenya (Doctoral dissertation, university of nairobi).
- Weikart, P. S. (1989). Teaching movement and dance. *Ypsilanti, MI. High/Scope Educational Research Foundation*.
- World Bank Report (1998). *Analytical tools for sector work in education*. Washington DC.
- Yulianti, K. (2015). The New Curriculum Implementation in Indonesia: A study in two primary schools, International Journal about parents in Education ,9(1).
- Zikmund, W.G. (2003) Business Research Methods. 7th Edition, Thomson/ South-Western.
- Zimmerman ,J.(2006). Why some teachers resist change and what principals can do about it, NASSP Bulletin, 90(3),238-249.
- Zohrabi, M. (2013). Mixed method research: instruments, validity, reliability and reporting findings. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 3(2), 254.

APPENDIX

QUESTIONNAIRE FOR TEACHERS

Dear Respondents,

I am Evelyn Kwarteng, a Master of Education candidate at the University of Education, Winneba researching on the topic "Early-grade Teachers' Pedagogical Understanding in the Implementation of the Standard-Based Curriculum in Atwima-Kwawoma District". Your candid and objective responses to the items in the questionnaire will go a long way in assisting the researcher to get the needed information. This questionnaire is strictly for an academic exercise, and you are humbly requested to provide accurate and frank information that will assist the researcher in obtaining the correct data for this exercise. Your responses will be treated in strict confidence. You are please requested to tick ($\sqrt{}$) a number that best describes your view and anywhere applicable. Thank you.

PART I

BIO-DATA OF PARTICIPANTS

1.	Gender Male [] Female []						
2.	Age Range 20 and below [] 21 – 30 [] 31 – 40 [] 41 – 50 []						
	51 – 60 []						
3.	Area of Specialisation						
	Early Childhood Education [] Basic Education [] Special Education []						
	Other (specify)						
4.	Professional Qualification						
	Certificate in ECE[] Diploma in ECE[] Degree in ECE[]						
	Post Graduate Diploma in Education [] Masters in ECE []						
	Other (specify)						

5. Rank in the Ghana Education Service

6. Number of years of teaching at present level

```
0-5 \text{ years} [] 6-10 \text{ years} [] 11-15 \text{ years} [] 16-20 \text{ years} [] 21 years and above []
```



PART II

DATA ON RESEARCH OBJECTIVES

SECTION A: Teachers' Perception of the Implementation of Standard-Based Curriculum.

The table below presents data on teachers' perceptions of the implementation of the standard-based curriculum. Read each statement carefully and indicate the extent to which you agree or disagree with the statements by ticking ($\sqrt{}$) 5=Strongly Disagree (SD), 4=Disagree (D), 3=Neutral (N), 2=Agree (A) and 1=Strongly Agree (SA)

S/N	Statement	SD	D	N	A	SA
		5	4	3	2	1
1	I can explain the standard-based curriculum.					
2	I have been two or three times on the implementation of the standard-based curriculum.					
3	I know of three and more principles of curriculum change.					
4	I have observed that the standard-based curriculum is well-aligned with the needs of our learners.					
5	With my experience, I have identified that the standard-based curriculum provides clear learning objectives for learners.					
6	I have noticed that the standard-based curriculum has improved learner-learning outcomes.					
7	My readiness in executing the standard-based curriculum is essential in enhancing the learning outcomes of learners					
8	The standard-based curriculum has provided me with useful guidance for planning my lessons					
9	the standard-based curriculum has improved the overall quality of instruction in our school					

SECTION B: Pedagogical Approaches Early Childhood Teachers Adopt to Teach Learners at Early Childhood Centres.

The table below presents data on pedagogical approaches early childhood teachers adopt to teach learners at early childhood centres. Please read each statement carefully and indicate the extent to which you agree or disagree with the statements by ticking $(\sqrt{})$ 5=Strongly Disagree (SD), 4=Disagree (D), 3=Neutral (N), 2=Agree (A) and 1=Strongly Agree (SA).

S/N	Statement	SD	D	N	A	SA
		5	4	3	2	1
10	I adopt play-based pedagogy to teach learners					
11	I adopt inquiry-based learning approach to teach learners					
12	I adopt project-based learning approach to teach learners					
13	I adopt technology-based learning approach to teach learners					
14	I adopt theme-based approach to teach learners					
15	I adopt activity-based learning approach to teach learners					
16	I adopt differentiated instruction to teach learners					

SECTION C: Available Resources That Support Teachers in the Successful Implementation of the Standard-Based Curriculum.

The table below presents data on available resources that support teachers in the successful implementation of the standard-based curriculum. Please read each statement carefully and indicate the extent to which you agree or disagree with the statements by ticking ($\sqrt{}$) 5=Strongly Disagree (SD), 4=Disagree (D), 3=Neutral (N), 2=Agree (A) and 1=Strongly Agree (SA)

S/N	Statement	SD	D	N	A	SA
		5	4	3	2	1
17	I have an official standard-based curriculum.					
18	I have books for all my learners.					
19	The textbooks I have are enough for all the learners.					
20	I have a teachers' resource pack.					
21	I have adequate teaching and learning resources in my class.					
22	I have been a beneficiary of professional training.					
23	I have technology-based tools to support teaching.					

SECTION D: Challenges Early Childhood Teachers Face in Implementing the Standard-Based Curriculum.

The table below presents data on the challenges early childhood teachers face in implementing the standard-based curriculum. Please read each statement carefully and indicate the extent to which you agree or disagree with the statements by ticking ($\sqrt{}$) 5=Strongly Disagree (SD), 4=Disagree (D), 3=Neutral (N), 2=Agree (A) and 1=Strongly Agree (SA)

S/N	Statement	SD 5	D 4	N 3	A 2	SA
24	I don't understand the standard-based curriculum	3	4	3	<i>L</i>	1
25	The school don't have enough teaching and learning materials to help me implement the Early childhood curriculum					
26	My class size is too large for me to go by the early childhood curriculum					
27	I don't receive any in-service training on the early childhood curriculum					
28	There is too much workload with the standard-based curriculum					
29	The pupils do not understand the learning concepts when I go by the early childhood curriculum					
30	Parents don't involve themselves in the implementation of the early childhood curriculum					
31	The facilities in the school don't facilitate the implementation of the early childhood curriculum.					
32	The administration of the school doesn't support the implementation of the early childhood curriculum					

Thank You for Your Participation. I'm Very Grateful for Your Time